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The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant, based
on the closing price of a share of the registrant’s Class A common stock on July 31, 2018 as reported by the New York
Stock Exchange on such date was approximately $3.4 billion. Shares of the registrant’s Class A common stock held by
each executive officer, director and holder of 10% or more of the outstanding Class A common stock have been
excluded in that such persons may be deemed to be affiliates. This calculation does not reflect a determination that
certain persons are affiliates of the registrant for any other purpose.

As of February 28, 2019, the number of shares of the registrant’s Class A common stock outstanding was 144,332,246.

Portions of the registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement relating to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated
by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K where indicated. Such Definitive Proxy Statement will
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the registrant’s fiscal year
ended January 31, 2019.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the

Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which

statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or

our future financial or operating performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because

they contain words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,” “target,” “projects,”
“believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “‘continue” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressiol
that concern our expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual

Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, statements about:

99 ¢ 9 ¢ LT3 LR T3

99 ¢ 9 ¢

our future financial and operating results; including expectations regarding revenues, deferred revenue, billings, gross
margins and operating income;
our ability to maintain an adequate rate of revenue and billings growth and our expectations regarding such growth;
our market opportunity, business plan and ability to effectively manage our growth;
our ability to achieve profitability and positive cash flow;
our ability to achieve our long-term margin objectives;
our expectations regarding our revenue mix;
costs associated with defending intellectual property infringement and other claims and the frequency of such claims;
our ability to attract and retain end-customers;
our ability to further penetrate our existing customer base;
our expectations regarding our retention rate;
our ability to displace existing products in established markets;
our ability to expand our leadership position as a cloud content management platform;
our ability to timely and effectively scale and adapt our existing technology;
our ability to innovate new products and features and bring them to market in a timely manner and the expected
benefits to customers and potential customers of our products;
our investment strategy, including our plans to further invest in our business, including investment in research and
development, sales and marketing, our data center infrastructure and our professional services organization, and our
ability to effectively manage such investments;
our ability to expand internationally;
expectations about competition and its effect in our market and our ability to compete;
the effects of seasonal trends on our operating results;
use of non-GAAP financial measures;
our belief regarding the sufficiency of our cash, cash equivalents and our credit facilities to meet our working capital
and capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months;
our expectations concerning relationships with third parties;
our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and key personnel;
our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of our partnerships with third parties;
3
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the effects of new laws, policies, taxes and regulations on our business;

management’s plans, beliefs and objectives, including the importance of our brand and culture on our business;

our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our brand and intellectual property; and

future acquisitions of or investments in complementary companies, products, services or technologies and our ability

to successfully integrate such companies or assets.
These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those
described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Moreover, we operate
in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment, and new risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for
our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which
any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any
forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking
events and circumstances discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not occur and actual results could differ
materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results,
levels of activity, performance or events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be
achieved or occur. Moreover, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and
completeness of the forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking
statements for any reason after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to conform these statements to actual
results or to changes in our expectations, except as required by law.

You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents that we reference in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and have filed with the SEC as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the understanding that
our actual future results, levels of activity, performance, and events and circumstances may be materially different
from what we expect.
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PARTI

Item 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Box provides a leading cloud content management platform that enables organizations of all sizes to securely manage
their content while allowing easy, secure access and sharing of this content from anywhere, on any device. With our
Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) cloud content management platform, users can collaborate on content both internally
and with external parties, automate content-driven business processes, develop custom applications, and implement
data protection, security and compliance features to comply with legal and regulatory requirements, internal policies
and industry standards and regulations. Box provides a single content platform that accelerates business processes,
improves employee productivity and protects an organization’s most valuable data. Our platform enables a broad set of
business use cases across an enterprise, across multiple file formats and media types, and user experiences. Our
platform integrates with leading enterprise business applications, and is compatible with multiple application
environments, operating systems and devices, ensuring that workers have access to their critical business content
whenever and wherever they need it.

At our founding in 2005, we recognized that content is more accessible, secure and powerful when it is centrally
stored, managed and shared. We have architected our cloud content management platform from the ground up to meet
the evolving demands of today’s distributed and mobile workforce, and of enterprises that are looking to benefit from
the increasing digitization of business. This architecture enables users to work and collaborate on content from
anywhere in the world and allows organizations to centrally apply and manage policies and controls across all users
and content simultaneously.

Our go-to-market strategy is focused on selling our cloud content management platform as a solution for the entire
enterprise with the full set of Box capabilities and driving high-value significant business outcomes for our customers.
This strategy combines top-down, high-touch sales efforts with end-user-driven bottoms-up adoption. We focus our
efforts on larger enterprises, capitalizing on international growth, and utilizing our partner ecosystem. Our sales
representatives engage in direct interaction with IT decision makers including CEOs, CIOs, CISOs, IT directors and
line of business department heads. We also field inbound inquiries and online sales opportunities. We further expand
our market reach by leveraging a network of our channel partners that is comprised of value-added resellers and
systems integrators as well as our own consulting services. We offer individuals a free basic version of Box that
allows them to experience first-hand our easy-to-use and secure solution. Use of the Box offering often spreads virally
within and across organizations, as users adopt Box and invite new users to collaborate. In addition, an organization
will frequently purchase Box for one use case and then later expand its deployment to other use cases with larger
groups of employees leading to deeper engagement with our service. Our solution selling strategy is focused on
ensuring that new and existing customers see the full use-cases and possibilities with our cloud content management
platform and the significant business outcomes.

We also provide industry-specific capabilities that address targeted business needs through a combination of
technology, services and marketing programs. We are able to serve highly regulated industries with specific
requirements relating to compliance with certain security and regulatory standards. These industry-specific
capabilities are aimed to speed the deployment and time-to-value for customers in industries such as financial
services, government, healthcare and life sciences, media and entertainment, retail, education, and nonprofit.

We are building a rich technology partner ecosystem around Box. We offer nearly 1,500 integrations with partners
including Microsoft, IBM, Salesforce.com, Apple, Google, Facebook, Slack, Adobe, Palo Alto Networks and others,
giving our users easy access to their content in Box without leaving these applications. In addition, in-house enterprise
developers and independent software developers can rapidly build and provision new applications that leverage and
extend the core functionality of our services, increasingly with a focus on specific industries and vertical market use
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cases. To date, tens of thousands of third-party developers have leveraged our platform as the secure content layer for
their applications.

We are committed to powering how the world does more good together. Box.org mobilizes our technology, talent,
partners and institutional assets to enable nonprofits to innovate and fulfill their missions. Founded in 2014,
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Box.org now serves over 8,000 nonprofits with donated or discounted Box access, employee volunteer hours and cash
grants from the Box.org Fund.

The Box Solution

We offer web, mobile and desktop applications for cloud content management on a platform for developing custom
applications, and a series of industry-specific capabilities. Box features and functionality include the following:

Cloud Architecture. We have built our platform from the ground up on a cloud-based architecture, which enables us
to rapidly develop, update and provision our services to users. Our proprietary cloud architecture is particularly
well-suited for today's dynamically changing business requirements because it enables our users to use the most
up-to-date versions of our solutions at all times and administrators to immediately apply changes in policies and
controls across all their organization’s critical content simultaneously.
Mobility. Our solution enables users to securely access, manage, share and collaborate on their content anytime and
from anywhere, using nearly any device and a variety of operating systems through both native and web browser
applications.
€Elegant, Intuitive and User-Focused Interface. We are dedicated to keeping our solution easy for users to understand
with little to no upfront training. We strive to enable quick and viral user adoption by maintaining a simple and
elegant interface with compelling access, sharing and collaboration features.
Built to Handle Content of Nearly Any Type. We have designed our solution to serve as the central content
management layer for an organization’s employees. Users can securely access, share and collaborate on all types of
information, regardless of format or file type, and from virtually any device or operating system.
Simple and Rapid Deployment. Our cloud-based software allows organizations to easily, quickly and inexpensively
deploy our products. IT administrators can quickly add users, set up permissions, create folders and policies,
implement automated workflows and begin using our products almost immediately without the need to procure and
provision hardware or install and configure software.
€Enterprise-Grade Security. We have invested heavily to build robust security features to protect our customers from
the most pervasive security threats. At the most basic level, all files stored in Box are encrypted at rest and in transit.
Box’s information rights management (IRM) features enable secure access and management of files by providing
granular control over users’ ability to access, view, download, edit, print or share content. With our Box KeySafe
product, organizations can implement higher levels of data security and protection by keeping control of the
encryption keys that protect their content. This advanced encryption feature is valuable to many organizations,
including those in highly regulated industries such as financial services, health care, government and legal.
Administrative Controls. We give IT administrators powerful tools to define access rights by user, content type,
device and business need. Administrators can set specific content policies such as expiration dates to auto-delete files
or deactivate links to time-sensitive materials. They can also manage mobile and sync security settings, including
specification of which devices have access to Box and whether certain features are enabled.
racking and Reporting for Visibility. All actions taken by paying business users and their external collaborators in
Box are tracked and auditable by our customers’ authorized administrators through Box’s native administrative
applications. The tracking and audit data are also accessible to administrators with the appropriate access rights via
our application programming interfaces (APIs).
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Comprehensive Data Governance Strategy. Box serves as a secure, centralized system of record for retaining content
for operational use while ensuring adherence to the laws and regulations concerning them, using data retention and
Data Loss Prevention (DLP) capabilities. Our data security policies allow customers to apply quarantine or
notification-only policies to sensitive confidential files, such as those containing predefined attributes, such as credit
card or social security system numbers, and we provide robust integrations for leading eDiscovery and DLP systems.
Our Box Governance product allows customers to control how long documents are to be retained in Box and the
disposition of those documents when the retention period expires.
Automation and Workflow Management. We give IT administrators the power to automate workflows based on a set
of rules determined by the end users. For example, documents can be routed to specific folders or flagged for user
actions based on the content of the document. In addition, we continue to innovate through Box Relay, which enables
our end users to easily build, manage and track their own workflows. This allows customers to accelerate the flow of
information through their organizations and increase the efficiency of their business processes.
Box Skills Kit for applying artificial intelligence to content in Box. We give organizations the ability to apply
machine learning algorithms from leading providers such as IBM, Microsoft and Google, as well as specialized
industry-specific vendors, directly to content within Box. This eliminates the need for customers to create and
manage separate document repositories for performing functions such as image and character recognition, video and
audio analysis and transcriptions, and document analysis on business content, thus improving content search ability
and business process automation.
Box Platform for Custom Application Development. We provide a content Platform-as-a-Service (cPaaS) product,
known as Box Platform to customers, independent software vendors (ISVs), and third-party developers that allows
them to leverage our secure content management and collaboration functionality for their own custom business
applications. Box Platform helps organizations accelerate their transformation into digital businesses by building
applications faster, without having to invest in building their own content management infrastructure.
€asy Integration with Other Cloud-Based Applications. Our open platform allows for easy integration with other
cloud-based and enterprise applications. We offer nearly 1,500 integrations with partners including IBM, Microsoft,
Salesforce.com, Google, Facebook, Slack, Adobe, Palo Alto Networks and others, as well as an open API for
organizations to integrate Box with other packaged and home-grown applications, including solution applications our
customers build for their customers.
Focus on Industry-Specific Capabilities. In order to facilitate easier and faster time to market, we offer
industry-specific capabilities for those industries that have significant content and collaboration challenges. These
features target specific business problems within those industries with a combination of Box, integration with
industry-specific partner technologies, and implementation expertise from Box Consulting and/or implementation
partners. For example, Box for Healthcare provides functionality that transforms how healthcare providers work.
This solution allows healthcare providers to streamline referral management, and enables users to view and share
DICOM files (like X-rays, CT Scans and Ultrasounds), reduces the need for manual faxing and scanning, and
unlocks data trapped in hospital-based enterprise systems. In addition, we recently launched Box GxP Validation,
which targets life science companies and provides a new approach for maintaining always-on GxP compliance in the
cloud and enables organizations subject to Food and Drug Administration regulations to manage both unregulated
and regulated content within Box. We are able to serve highly regulated industries with specific requirements relating
to compliance with certain security and regulatory standards, such as GxP and FedRAMP, and those required by
HIPAA, FINRA, and the HITECH Act.
Box Zones for In-Region Data Storage. Box Zones enables businesses around the globe to adopt Box as their 1
in certain regions. This helps organizations to address region-specific compliance mandates associated with data res
7
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Customers

Our user base includes over 64.5 million registered users. We define a registered user as a Box account that has been
provisioned a unique user identification number. As of January 31, 2019, approximately 81% of our registered users
were non-paying users who independently registered for accounts and approximately 19% of our registered users were
paying users who registered as part of a larger enterprise or business account or by using a paid personal account.

As of January 31, 2019, we had over 92,000 paying organizations, and our solution was offered in 24 languages. We
define paying organizations as separate and distinct buying entities, such as a company, an educational or government
institution, or a distinct business unit of a large corporation, that have entered into a subscription agreement with us to
utilize our services. Organizations typically purchase our solution in the following ways: (i) employees in one or more
small groups within the organization may individually purchase our service; (ii) organizations may purchase
IT-sponsored, enterprise-level agreements with deployments for specific, targeted use cases ranging from tens to
thousands of user seats; (iii) organizations may purchase I'T-sponsored, enterprise-level agreements where the number
of user seats sold is intended to accommodate and enable nearly all information workers within the organization in
whatever use cases they desire to adopt over the term of the subscription; and (iv) organizations may purchase our
Box Platform service to create custom business applications for their internal use and extended ecosystem of
customers, suppliers and partners.

We have developed several programs designed to provide customers with service options to quickly get them up and
running and enhance their usage of our cloud content management platform. These services include 24x7 support
provided by our Customer Success Management group and certain resellers; a professional services ecosystem that
consists of our Box Consulting team and system integrators that help customers implement cloud content management
oriented use cases; a Customer Success Management group to assist customers in production; and an online
community with self-service training materials, best practice guides and product documentation.

One reseller, which is also a customer, represented 11% of our revenue in the year ended January 31, 2019. Our
geographic revenue and segment information is set forth in Notes 2 and 14, respectively, of our Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Sales and Marketing

We offer our solution to our customers as a subscription-based service, with subscription fees based on the
requirements of our customers, including the number of users and functionality deployed. The majority of our
customers subscribe to our services through one-year contracts, although we also offer our services for terms ranging
from one month to three years or more. We typically invoice our customers at the beginning of the term, in multiyear,
annual, quarterly or monthly installments. We recognize revenue when, or as we, satisfy a performance obligation.
Accordingly, due to our subscription model, we recognize revenue for our subscription and premier services ratably
over the term of the contract.

We employ a direct sales team to offer a higher touch experience. We also make it easy for users and organizations to
subscribe to paid versions of our service on our self-service web portal. Our sales team is composed of inside sales,
outbound sales and field sales personnel who are generally organized by account size and geography, and/or major
industry focus. We also have a rich ecosystem of channel partners who expand our reach to both large and small
enterprises.

We generate customer leads, accelerate sales opportunities and build brand awareness through our marketing

programs and through our strategic relationships. Our marketing programs target senior IT leaders, technology
professionals and senior line of business leaders.

11
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As a core part of our strategy, we have developed an ecosystem of partners to both broaden and complement our
application offerings and to provide a broad array of services that fall outside of Box’s areas of focus. These
relationships include software and technology partners, as well as consulting and implementation services providers
that enable Box to address a broader set of use cases for our customers.
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Sales and marketing expenses were $312.2 million, $303.3 million and $253.0 million for the years ended January 31,
2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Research and Development

Our ability to compete depends in large part on our continuous commitment to product development and our ability to
rapidly introduce new applications, technologies, features and functionality. In simple conceptual form, we provide a
product that allows organizations to securely manage, share and collaborate on files. In practice, we develop and
maintain a set of sophisticated software services (e.g., search, share, secure, convert/view, logging) around corporate
content. These services, which comprise our platform, are used to develop our own applications (e.g., sync, desktop,
web, native mobile) and also support the development of third-party applications.

Our product development organization is responsible for the specification, design, development and testing of our
platform and applications. We focus our efforts on improving the usability, security, reliability, performance and
flexibility of the services in our platform. We strive to continually improve our applications so that they help users and
teams become more productive in their day-to-day work.

Research and development expenses were $163.8 million, $136.8 million and $115.9 million for the years ended
January 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Competition

The cloud content management market is large, highly competitive and highly fragmented. It is subject to rapidly
evolving technology, shifting customer needs and frequent introductions of new products and services. We face
competition from a broad spectrum of technology providers: traditional cloud content management vendors who
deploy on-premise and offer deep records management, business process workflow, and archival capabilities; newer
mobile enterprise vendors who are beginning to enter the content collaboration market; vendors whose core
competency is simple file sync and share, which can be deployed on-premise, hybrid, or via a SaaS delivery model;
and social collaboration vendors who focus on the conversations that occur between teams are adding adjacent content
capabilities onto an existing product, or serve a particular business or industry use case. Our primary competitors in
the cloud content management market include, but are not limited to, Microsoft and Open Text (Documentum). In the
enterprise file sync and share market, our primary competitors include, but are not limited to, Microsoft, Google and,
to a lesser extent, Dropbox.

We may face future competition in our markets from other large, established companies, as well as from smaller
specialized companies. In addition, we expect continued consolidation in our industry which could adversely alter the
competitive dynamics of our markets including both pricing and our ability to compete successfully for customers.

The principal competitive factors in our market include:

enterprise-grade security and compliance;
ease of user experience;
scalability of product and infrastructure for large deployments;
speed, availability, and reliability of the service;
{ow-cost, quick deployment;
depth of integration into enterprise applications, including office productivity, desktop and mobile tools;
current and forward-thinking product development;
agnostic to device, operating system, and file type;
tntelligent content management including metadata capabilities;
9
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ability to store content in multiple geographic locations;

automation and workflow management;

extensible platform for custom application development;

customer-centric product development;

rich ecosystem of channel partners and applications;

superior customer service and commitment to customer success; and

strength of professional services organization.
We believe that we compete favorably on the basis of these factors. Our ability to remain competitive will depend to a
great extent upon our ongoing performance in the areas of product development, core technical innovation, platform
and partner ecosystem, and customer support. In addition, many of our competitors, particularly the large software
companies named above, may have greater name recognition, longer operating histories, larger marketing budgets,
significantly greater resources and established relationships with our partners and customers, which can give them
advantageous positioning for their products despite other competitive merits of respective product features and
functionality. Some competitors may be able to devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of
their products than we can to ours, which could allow them to respond more quickly than we can to new technologies
and changes in customer needs.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trade secrets, patents, copyrights and trademarks, as well as contractual protections, to
establish and protect our intellectual property rights. As of January 31, 2019, our patents were set to expire between
2027 and 2036. We intend to pursue additional patent protection to the extent that we believe it would be beneficial
and cost effective.

We require our employees, contractors, consultants and other third parties to enter into confidentiality and proprietary
rights agreements and control access to software, documentation and other proprietary information. Although we rely
on intellectual property rights, including trade secrets, patents, copyrights and trademarks, as well as contractual
protections, to establish and protect our proprietary rights, we believe that factors such as the technological and
creative skills of our personnel, creation of new modules, features and functionality, and frequent enhancements to our
applications are more essential to establishing and maintaining our technology leadership position.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary technology and our intellectual property rights, unauthorized parties may
attempt to copy or obtain and use our technology to develop applications with the same functionality as our services.
Policing unauthorized use of our technology and intellectual property rights on a global basis is difficult.

We expect that software and other applications in our industry may be subject to third-party infringement claims as
the number of competitors grows and the functionality of applications in different industry segments overlaps. Any of
these third parties might make a claim of infringement against us at any time.

Backlog

We generally sign annual and multiple-year subscription contracts for our cloud content management services. The
frequency of our invoices to each customer is negotiated and varies among our subscription contracts. We continued
to focus on annual payment frequencies for multi-year contracts in the twelve months ended January 31, 2019. As a
result, for multi-year contracts, we frequently invoice an initial amount at contract signing followed by subsequent
annual invoices. Until amounts are invoiced, they are typically not recorded in revenue, deferred revenue, billings or
elsewhere in our consolidated financial statements other than disclosed as part of remaining performance obligation.
To the extent future invoicing is determined to be certain, we consider those future subscription invoices to be
non-cancelable backlog, which is disclosed as part of remaining performance obligation.

14
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Future invoicing is determined to be certain when we have an executed non-cancelable contract and invoicing is not
dependent on a future event such as the delivery of a specific new product or feature, or the achievement of
contractual contingencies. We had $311.4 million and $278.0 million of non-cancelable backlog as of January 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase of non-cancelable backlog as of January 31, 2019 was primarily driven by
the addition of new customers, expansion within existing customers as they broaden their deployment of our product
offerings, strong attach rates of add-on products, partially offset by the final invoicing associated with the enhanced
developer access fee from one of our resellers billed in fiscal year 2019 and the timing of customer driven renewals.

We expect that the amount of backlog relative to the total value of our contracts will change from year to year due to
several factors, including the timing and duration of customer subscription agreements, varying price, volume, and
invoicing cycles of subscription contracts, the timing of customer regularly scheduled renewals, and foreign currency
fluctuations. Accordingly, we believe that fluctuations in backlog are not always a reliable indicator of future revenue
and we do not utilize backlog as a key management metric internally.

Employees

As of January 31, 2019, we had 1,980 employees. None of our employees are represented by a labor union. We have
not experienced any work stoppages, and we consider our relations with our employees to be very good.

Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at 900 Jefferson Ave., Redwood City, California 94063, and our telephone
number is (877) 729-4269. Our website address is www.box.com, and our investor relations website is located at
www.box.com/investors. The information on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We were incorporated in 2005 as Box.Net, Inc., a Washington corporation, and later
reincorporated in 2008 under the same name as a Delaware corporation. In November 2011, we changed our name to
Box, Inc. The Box design logo, “Box” and our other registered and common law trade names, trademarks and service
marks are the property of Box, Inc. Other trademarks, service marks, or trade names appearing in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K are the property of their respective owners.

Available Information

We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments
to reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
The SEC maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other
information that we file with the SEC electronically. Copies of our reports on Form 10-K, Forms 10-Q, Forms 8-K,
and amendments to those reports may also be obtained, free of charge, electronically through our investor relations
website located at www.box.com/investors as soon as reasonably practical after we file such material with, or furnish
it to, the SEC.

We also use our investor relations website as a channel of distribution for important company information. Important
information, including press releases, analyst presentations and financial information regarding us, as well as
corporate governance information, is routinely posted and accessible on certain Twitter accounts, such as @box,
@levie and @boxincir. Information on or that can be accessed through our websites or are on these Twitter accounts
is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the inclusion of our website addresses and Twitter accounts are
inactive textual references only.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
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Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and
uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K,

including in the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and our consolidated financial statements and related notes, before making a decision to invest in our Class A

common stock. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, operating results and
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prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our Class A common stock
could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry
We have a history of cumulative losses, and we do not expect to be profitable for the foreseeable future.

We have incurred significant losses in each period since our inception in 2005. We incurred net losses of $134.6
million, $155.0 million and $151.8 million in our fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
As of January 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $1.1 billion. These losses and accumulated deficit reflect the
substantial investments we made to acquire new customers and develop our services. We intend to continue scaling
our business to increase our number of users and paying organizations and to meet the increasingly complex needs of
our customers. We have invested, and expect to continue to invest, in our sales and marketing organizations to sell our
services around the world and in our product development organization to deliver additional features and capabilities
of our cloud services to address our customers’ evolving needs. We also expect to continue to make significant
investments in our infrastructure and in our professional service organization as we focus on customer success. As a
result of our continuing investments to scale our business in each of these areas, we do not expect to be profitable for
the foreseeable future. Furthermore, to the extent we are successful in increasing our customer base, we will also incur
increased losses due to upfront costs associated with acquiring new customers, particularly as a result of the limited
free trial version of our service, and the nature of subscription revenue, which is generally recognized ratably over the
term of the subscription period, which is typically one year, although we also offer our services for terms ranging from
one month to three years or more. We cannot assure you that we will achieve profitability in the future or that, if we
do become profitable, we will sustain profitability.

The market in which we participate is intensely competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our operating
results could be harmed.

The market for cloud content management services is fragmented, rapidly evolving and highly competitive, with
relatively low barriers to entry for certain applications and services. Many of our competitors and potential
competitors are larger and have greater name recognition, substantially longer operating histories, larger marketing
budgets and significantly greater resources than we do. Our primary competitors in the cloud content management
market include, but are not limited to, Microsoft and Open Text (Documentum). In the enterprise file sync and share
market, our primary competitors include, but are not limited to, Microsoft, Google and, to a lesser extent, Dropbox.
With the introduction of new technologies and market entrants, we expect competition to continue to intensify in the
future. If we fail to compete effectively, our business will be harmed. Some of our principal competitors offer their
products or services at a lower price or for free, which has resulted in pricing pressures on our business. If we are
unable to achieve our target pricing levels, our operating results would be negatively impacted. In addition, pricing
pressures and increased competition generally could result in reduced sales, lower margins, losses or the failure of our
services to achieve or maintain widespread market acceptance, any of which could harm our business.

Many of our competitors are able to devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products
or services. In addition, many of our competitors have established marketing relationships and major distribution
agreements with channel partners, consultants, system integrators and resellers. Moreover, many software vendors
could bundle products or offer them at lower prices as part of a broader product sale or enterprise license arrangement.
Some competitors may offer products or services that address one or a number of business execution functions at
lower prices or with greater depth than our services. As a result, our competitors may be able to respond more quickly
and effectively to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards or customer requirements. Furthermore,
some potential customers, particularly large enterprises, may elect to develop their own internal solutions. For any of
these reasons, we may not be able to compete successfully against our current and future competitors.
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If the market for cloud-based enterprise service declines or develops more slowly than we expect, our business could
be adversely affected.

The market for cloud-based enterprise services is not as mature as the on-premise enterprise software market, and it is
uncertain whether a cloud-based service like ours will achieve and sustain high levels of customer demand
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and market acceptance. Because we derive, and expect to continue to derive, substantially all of our revenue and cash
flows from sales of our cloud content management solutions, our success will depend to a substantial extent on the
widespread adoption of cloud computing in general and of cloud-based content management services in particular.
Many organizations have invested substantial personnel and financial resources to integrate traditional enterprise
software into their organizations and, therefore, may be reluctant or unwilling to migrate to a cloud-based model for
storing, accessing, sharing and managing their content. It is difficult to predict customer adoption rates and demand
for our services, the future growth rate and size of the cloud computing market or the entry of competitive services.
The expansion of the cloud content management market depends on a number of factors, including the cost,
performance and perceived value associated with cloud computing, as well as the ability of companies that provide
cloud-based services to address security and privacy concerns. If we or other providers of cloud-based services
experience security incidents, loss or corruption of customer data, disruptions in delivery of services, network outages,
disruptions in the availability of the internet or other problems, the market for cloud-based services as a whole,
including our services, may be negatively affected. If cloud-based services do not achieve widespread adoption, or
there is a reduction in demand for cloud-based services caused by a lack of customer acceptance, technological
challenges, weakening economic or political conditions, security or privacy concerns, competing technologies and
products, decreases in corporate spending or otherwise, it could result in decreased revenue, harm our growth rates,
and adversely affect our business and operating results.

We have experienced rapid growth. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to execute our
business plan, maintain high levels of service or adequately address competitive challenges.

We have experienced a period of rapid growth in our operations, employee headcount, and the size of our customer
base. You should not consider our recent growth as indicative of our future performance. However, we anticipate that
we will continue to expand our operations and employee headcount in the near term, including internationally. This
growth has placed, and future growth will place, a significant strain on our management, administrative, operational
and financial infrastructure. Our success will depend in part on our ability to manage this growth effectively. To
manage the expected growth of our operations and personnel, we will need to continue to improve our operational,
financial and management controls, as well as our reporting systems and procedures. Failure to effectively manage our
growth could result in difficulty or delays in deploying customers, declines in quality or customer satisfaction,
increases in costs, difficulties in introducing new features or other operational difficulties. Any of these difficulties
could adversely impact our business performance and operating results.

Our business depends substantially on customers renewing their subscriptions with us and expanding their use of our
services. Any decline in our customer renewals or failure to convince our customers to broaden their use of our
services would harm our future operating results.

In order for us to maintain or improve our operating results, it is important that our customers renew their
subscriptions with us when their existing subscription term expires. Our customers have no obligation to renew their
subscriptions upon expiration, and we cannot assure you that customers will renew subscriptions at the same or higher
level of service, if at all. Although our retention rate remains high, it has decreased over time, and may continue to
decrease in the future, as some of our customers have elected not to renew their subscriptions with us.

Our retention rate may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including our customers’ satisfaction or
dissatisfaction with our services, the effectiveness of our customer support services, the performance of our partners
and resellers, our pricing, the prices of competing products or services, mergers and acquisitions affecting our
customer base, the effects of global economic conditions or reductions in our customers’ spending levels. If our
customers do not renew their subscriptions, purchase fewer seats, renew them on less favorable terms or fail to
purchase new product offerings, our revenue may decline, and we may not realize improved operating results from our
customer base.
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In addition, the growth of our business depends in part on our customers expanding their use of our services. The use
of our cloud content management platform often expands within an organization as new users are added or as
additional services are purchased by or for other departments within an organization. Further, as we have introduced
new services throughout our operating history, our existing customers have constituted a significant portion of the
users of such services. If we are unable to encourage our customers to broaden their use of our services, our operating
results may be adversely affected.
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If we are not able to successfully launch new products and services, or provide enhancements or modifications to our
existing products and services, our business could be adversely affected.

Our industry is marked by rapid technological developments and new and enhanced applications and services. If we
are unable to provide enhancements and new features for our existing services or offer new services that achieve
market acceptance or that keep pace with rapid technological developments, our business could be adversely affected.
For example, we provide Box Platform, which allows our customers to leverage Box’s powerful content services
within their own custom applications, Box KeySafe, a solution that builds on top of Box’s strong encryption and
security capabilities to give customers greater control over the encryption keys used to secure the file contents that are
stored with Box, Box Zones, which gives global customers the ability to store their data locally in certain regions, Box
Governance, which gives customers a better way to comply with regulatory policies, satisfy e-discovery requests and
effectively manage sensitive business information, and Box Skills, which enables customers to leverage a variety of
machine learning tools to accelerate their business processes and help extract meaning from customers unstructured
content. The success of any new products and services, enhancements, or modifications to existing products and
services depends on several factors, including the timely completion, introduction and market acceptance of such
enhancements, integrations, products or services. Failure in this regard may significantly impair our revenue growth
and our future financial results. In addition, because our services are designed to operate on a variety of systems, we
will need to continuously modify and enhance our services to keep pace with changes in internet-related hardware,
mobile operating systems such as iOS and Android, and other software, communication, browser and database
technologies. We may not be successful in either developing these modifications and enhancements or in bringing
them to market in a timely fashion. Furthermore, modifications to existing platforms or technologies will increase our
research and development expenses. Any failure of our services to operate effectively with existing or future network
platforms and technologies could reduce the demand for our services, result in customer dissatisfaction and adversely
affect our business.

Actual or perceived security vulnerabilities in our services or any breaches of our security controls and unauthorized
access to a customer’s data could harm our business and operating results.

The services we offer involve the storage of large amounts of our customers’ sensitive and proprietary information
across a broad spectrum of industries. Cyberattacks and other malicious internet-based activity continue to increase in
frequency and in magnitude generally, and cloud-based content collaboration services have been targeted in the past.
These increasing threats are being driven by a variety of sources including nation-state sponsored espionage and
hacking activities, industrial espionage, organized crime, sophisticated organizations and hacking groups and
individuals. These sources can also implement social engineering techniques to induce our partners, users, employees
or customers to disclose passwords or other sensitive information or take other actions to gain access to our users’ data.
Hackers that acquire user account information at other companies can attempt to use that information to compromise
our users’ accounts if an account shares the same sensitive information such as passwords. In addition, because the
Box service is configured by administrators and users to select their default settings, the third-party integrations they
enable, and their privacy and permissions settings, this may lead to an administrator or user intentionally or
inadvertently configuring settings to share their sensitive data. For example, a Box user can choose to share the
content they store in Box with third-parties by creating a link that can be customized to be accessible by anyone with
the link. While this feature is designed to be used for a variety of legitimate use cases in which a user wishes to share
non-sensitive content with a broad or public audience, if a user were to intentionally or inadvertently configure a
setting that allowed public access to their sensitive data, that data could be discovered and accessed by an unintended
third party. As we increase our customer base and our brand becomes more widely known and recognized, and as our
service is used in more heavily regulated industries where there may be a greater concentration of sensitive and
protected data, such as healthcare, government, life sciences, and financial services, we may become more of a target
for these malicious third parties.

If our security measures are or are believed to be inadequate or breached as a result of third-party action, employee
negligence, error or malfeasance, product defects, social engineering techniques, improper user configuration or
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otherwise, and this results in, or is believed to result in, the disruption of the confidentiality, integrity or availability of
our customers’ data, we could incur significant liability to our customers and to individuals or organizations whose
information is being stored by our customers, and our business may suffer and our reputation or competitive position
may be damaged. Techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to, or to sabotage, systems or networks, are
constantly evolving and generally are not recognized until launched against a
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target. Therefore, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques, react in a timely manner, or implement adequate
preventive measures. We also expect to incur significant costs in an effort to detect and prevent security breaches and
other security-related incidents, and we may face increased costs in the event of an actual or perceived security breach
or other security-related incident. Additionally, our service providers may suffer, or be perceived to suffer, data
security breaches or other incidents that may compromise data stored or processed for us that may give rise to any of
the foregoing.

Our customer contracts often include (i) specific obligations that we maintain the availability of the customer’s data
through our service and that we secure customer content against unauthorized access or loss, and (ii) provisions
whereby we indemnify our customers for third-party claims asserted against them that result from our failure to
maintain the availability of their content or securing the same from unauthorized access or loss. While our customer
contracts contain limitations on our liability in connection with these obligations and indemnities, if an actual or
perceived security breach occurs, the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed,
we could be subject to indemnity or damage claims in certain customer contracts, and we could lose future sales and
customers, any of which could harm our business and operating results. Furthermore, while our errors and omissions
insurance policies include liability coverage for certain of these matters, if we experienced a widespread security
breach or other incident that impacted a significant number of our customers to whom we owe indemnity obligations,
we could be subject to indemnity claims or other damages that exceed our insurance coverage. We also cannot be
certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for data handling or data security liabilities actually incurred, that
insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not
deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed
available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or
the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
including our financial condition, operating results, and reputation.

Our sales to government entities are subject to a number of additional challenges and risks.

We sell to U.S. federal and state and foreign government customers, and we may increase sales to government entities
in the future. Sales to government entities are subject to a number of additional challenges and risks. Selling to
government entities can be highly competitive, expensive and time consuming, often requiring significant upfront
time and expense without any assurance that these efforts will generate a sale. Government certification requirements
may change, or we may lose one or more government certifications, and in doing so restrict our ability to sell into the
government sector until we have attained revised certifications. Government demand and payment for our products
and services are affected by public sector budgetary cycles and funding authorizations, with funding reductions or
delays adversely affecting public sector demand for our solutions. An extended federal government shutdown
resulting from budgetary decisions may limit or delay federal government spending on our solutions and adversely
affect our revenue. Government entities may also have statutory, contractual or other legal rights to terminate
contracts with us for convenience or due to a default, and any such termination may adversely affect our future
operating results.

As a substantial portion of our sales efforts are increasingly targeted at enterprise and highly-regulated customers, our
sales cycles may become longer and more expensive, we may encounter greater pricing pressure and implementation
and customization challenges, and we may have to delay revenue recognition for more complicated transactions, all of
which could harm our business and operating results.

As a substantial portion of our sales efforts are increasingly targeted at enterprise and highly-regulated customers, we
face greater costs, longer sales cycles and less predictability in the completion of some of our sales. In this market
segment, the customer’s decision to use our services may be an enterprise-wide decision, in which case these types of
sales require us to provide greater levels of customer education regarding the uses and benefits of our services, as well
as education regarding security, privacy, and data protection laws and regulations, especially for those customers in
more heavily regulated industries or those with significant international operations. In addition, larger enterprises may
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demand more customization, integration and support services, and features. As a result of these factors, these sales
opportunities may require us to devote greater sales support and professional services resources to these customers,
which could increase our costs, lengthen our sales cycle and leave fewer sales support and professional services
resources for other customers. Professional services may also be performed by a third party or a combination of our
own staff and a third party. Our strategy is to work with third parties to increase
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the breadth of capability and depth of capacity for delivery of these services to our customers. If a customer is not
satisfied with the quality or interoperability of our services with their own IT environment, we could incur additional
costs to address the situation, which could adversely affect our margins. Moreover, any customer dissatisfaction with
our services could damage our ability to encourage broader adoption of our services by that customer. In addition, any
negative publicity resulting from such situations, regardless of its accuracy, may further damage our business by
affecting our ability to compete for new business with current and prospective customers.

Privacy concerns and laws or other domestic or foreign regulations may reduce the effectiveness of our services and
harm our business.

Users can use our services to store identifying information or information that otherwise is considered personal
information. Federal, state and foreign government bodies and agencies have adopted or are considering adopting laws
and regulations regarding the collection, use and disclosure of personal information obtained from consumers and
other individuals. Foreign data protection, privacy, consumer protection and other laws and regulations, particularly in
Europe, are often more restrictive than those in the United States. The costs of compliance with, and other burdens
imposed by, such laws and regulations that are applicable to our business or the businesses of our customers may limit
the use and adoption of our services and reduce overall demand for them.

These U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and regulations, which can be enforced by private parties or
governmental entities, are constantly evolving and can be subject to significant change. A number of new laws coming
into effect and/or proposals pending before federal, state and foreign legislative and regulatory bodies could affect our
business. For example, the European Commission has enacted a General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) that
became effective in May 2018, superseding prior EU data protection legislation, imposing more stringent EU data
protection requirements, and providing for greater penalties for noncompliance of up to the greater of 20 million euros
or four percent of a company’s global revenue. The GDPR imposes new obligations on companies regarding the
handling of personal data. If we are unable to develop and offer services that meet our legal duties or help our
customers meet their obligations under the GDPR or other laws or regulations relating to privacy, data protection, or
information security, we may experience reduced demand for our services and become subject to significant fines and
penalties, all of which would harm our business. Although U.S. and EU authorities reached a political agreement on
February 2, 2016, regarding a new means for legitimizing personal data transfers from the EEA to the United States,
the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield, it is facing mounting legal challenges. It is unclear what effect these challenges to the
EU-U.S. Privacy Shield will have and whether it or the related Swiss-EU Privacy Shield will continue to function as
an appropriate means for us to legitimize personal data transfers from the EEA or Switzerland to the U.S.
Additionally, the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, that will, among other things, require covered
companies to provide new disclosures to California consumers, and afford such consumers new abilities to opt-out of
certain sales of personal information, when it goes into effect on January 1, 2020. Legislators have stated that they
intend to propose amendments to the CCPA before it goes into effect, and it remains unclear what, if any,
modifications will be made to this legislation or how it will be interpreted. We cannot yet predict the impact of the
CCPA on our business or operations, but it may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and to
incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply. There also have been a number of recent legislative
proposals in the United States, at both the federal and state level, that would impose new obligations in areas such as
privacy and liability for copyright infringement by third parties. In June 2016, the United Kingdom voted to leave the
European Union, commonly referred to as “Brexit,” which could also lead to further legislative and regulatory changes
by the planned exit date of March 2019. The UK Data Protection Act that substantially implements the GDPR became
law in May 2018. It remains unclear, however, how United Kingdom data protection laws or regulations will develop
in the medium to longer term and how data transfers to and from the United Kingdom will be regulated. In addition,
some countries are considering or have enacted legislation requiring local storage and processing of data that could
increase the cost and complexity of delivering our services.

These existing and proposed laws and regulations can be costly to comply with, can delay or impede the development
or adoption of our products and services, reduce the overall demand for our products and services, increase our
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operating costs, require significant management time and attention, slow the pace at which we close (or prevent us
from closing) sales transactions. Additionally, any actual or alleged noncompliance with these laws and regulations
could result in negative publicity and subject us to investigations, claims or other remedies, including demands that we
modify or cease existing business practices, and expose us to significant fines, penalties and other damages.
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Furthermore, government agencies may seek to access sensitive information that our users upload to Box, or restrict
users’ access to Box. Laws and regulations relating to government access and restrictions are evolving, and compliance
with such laws and regulations could limit adoption of our services by users and create burdens on our business.
Moreover, regulatory investigations into our compliance with privacy-related laws and regulations could increase our
costs and divert management attention.

If we are not able to satisfy data protection, security, privacy, and other government- and industry-specific
requirements, our growth could be harmed.

There are a number of data protection, security, privacy and other government- and industry-specific requirements,
including those that require companies to notify individuals of data security incidents involving certain types of
personal data. Security compromises experienced by our competitors, by our customers or by us may lead to public
disclosures, which could harm our reputation, erode customer confidence in the effectiveness of our security
measures, negatively impact our ability to attract new customers, or cause existing customers to elect not to renew
their agreements with us. In addition, some of the industries we serve have industry-specific requirements relating to
compliance with certain security and regulatory standards, such as GxP and FedRAMP, and those required by HIPAA,
FINRA, and the HITECH Act. As we expand into new industry verticals and regions, we will likely need to comply
with these and other new requirements to compete effectively. If we cannot adequately comply or if we incur a
violation of one or more of these requirements, our growth could be adversely impacted, and we could incur
significant liability and our reputation and business could be harmed.

Because we recognize revenue from subscriptions for our services over the term of the subscription, downturns or
upturns in new business may not be immediately reflected in our operating results.

We generally recognize revenue from customers ratably over the terms of their subscription agreements, which are
typically one year, although we also offer our services for terms ranging from one month to three years or more. As a
result, most of the revenue we report in each quarter is the result of subscription agreements entered into during prior
quarters. Consequently, a decline in new or renewed subscriptions in any one quarter may not be reflected in our
revenue results for that quarter. However, any such decline will negatively affect our revenue in future quarters.
Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in sales, our failure to achieve our internal sales targets, a decline in
the market acceptance of our services, or potential decreases in our retention rate may not be fully reflected in our
operating results until future periods. Our subscription model also makes it difficult for us to rapidly increase our
revenue through additional sales in any period, as revenue from additional sales must be recognized over the
applicable subscription term.

Our platform must integrate with a variety of operating systems and software applications that are developed by
others, and if we are unable to ensure that our solutions interoperate with such systems and applications, our service
may become less competitive, and our operating results may be harmed.

We offer our services across a variety of operating systems and through the internet. We are dependent on the
interoperability of our platform with third-party mobile devices, tablets, desktop and mobile operating systems, as
well as web browsers that we do not control. Any changes in such systems, devices or web browsers that degrade the
functionality of our services or give preferential treatment to competitive services could adversely affect usage of our
services. In order for us to deliver high quality services, it is important that these services work well with a range of
operating systems, networks, infrastructure, devices, web browsers and standards that we do not control. In addition,
because a substantial number of our users access our services through mobile devices, we are particularly dependent
on the interoperability of our services with mobile devices and mobile operating systems. We may not be successful in
developing relationships with key participants in the mobile industry or in developing services that operate effectively
with these operating systems, networks, infrastructure, devices, web browsers and standards. In the event that it is
difficult for our users to access and use our services, our user growth may be harmed, and our business and operating
results could be adversely affected.
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If we are unable to attract new customers or expand deployments with existing customers at rates that are consistent
with our expectations, our future revenue and operating results could be adversely impacted.

In order for us to improve our operating results and continue to grow our business, it is important that we continue to
attract new customers and expand deployment of our solutions and products with existing customers. To the extent we
are successful in increasing our customer base, we could incur increased losses because costs
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associated with new customers are generally incurred up front, while revenue is recognized ratably over the term of
our subscription services. Alternatively, to the extent we are unsuccessful in increasing our customer base, we could
also incur increased losses as costs associated with marketing programs and new products intended to attract new
customers would not be offset by incremental revenue and cash flow. Furthermore, if our customers do not expand
their deployment of our services or purchase new products from us, our revenue may grow more slowly than we
expect. All of these factors could negatively impact our future revenue and operating results.

Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly and may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business.

Our quarterly operating results, including the levels of our revenue, billings, gross margin, profitability, cash flow, and
deferred revenue, may vary significantly in the future, and period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may
not be meaningful. Accordingly, the results of any one quarter should not be relied upon as an indication of future
performance. Our quarterly financial results may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside
of our control and, as a result, may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business. Fluctuations in
quarterly results may negatively impact the value of our Class A common stock. Factors that may cause fluctuations in
our quarterly financial results include, but are not limited to:

our ability to attract new customers;

our ability to convert users of our limited free version to paying customers;

the addition or loss of large customers, including through acquisitions or consolidations;

changes in our retention rate;

the timing of revenue recognition;

the impact on billings of shifting our focus to annual (rather than multi-year) payment frequencies from our
customers;

the amount and timing of operating expenses related to the maintenance and expansion of our business, operations
and infrastructure;

network or service outages, internet disruptions, the availability of our service, security breaches or perceived
security breaches and vulnerabilities;

eeneral economic, industry and market conditions;

tncreases or decreases in the number of features or capabilities in our services or pricing changes upon any renewals
of customer agreements;

changes in our go to market strategies and/or pricing policies and/or those of our competitors;

seasonal variations in our billings results and sales of our services, which have historically been highest in the fourth
quarter of our fiscal year;

the timing and success of new services and product introductions by us and our competitors or any other change in
the competitive dynamics of our industry, including consolidation or new entrants among competitors, customers or
strategic partners;

changes in usage or adoption rates of the internet and content management services, including outside the United
States;

the success of our strategic partnerships, including the performance of our resellers; and

the timing of expenses related to the development or acquisition of technologies or businesses and potential future
charges for impairment of goodwill from acquired companies.
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One of our marketing strategies is to offer a limited free version of our service, and we may not be able to realize the
benefits of this strategy.

We offer a limited version of our service to users free of charge in order to promote additional usage, brand and
product awareness, and adoption. Many users never convert from a free version to a paid version of our service. Our
marketing strategy also depends in part on persuading users who use the free version of our service within their
organizations to convince decision-makers to purchase and deploy our service. To the extent that these users do not
become, or do not lead others to become, paying customers, we will not realize the intended benefits of this marketing
strategy, and our ability to grow our business and revenue may be harmed.

If we fail to effectively manage our technical operations infrastructure, our customers may experience service outages
and delays in the deployment of our services, which may adversely affect our business.

We have experienced significant growth in the number of users and the amount of data that our operations
infrastructure supports. We seek to maintain sufficient excess capacity in our operations infrastructure to meet the
needs of all of our customers. We also seek to maintain excess capacity to facilitate the rapid provisioning of new
customer deployments and the expansion of existing customer deployments. In addition, we need to properly manage
our technological operations infrastructure in order to support version control, changes in hardware and software
parameters and the evolution of our services. However, the provision of new hosting infrastructure requires significant
lead-time. We have experienced, and may in the future experience, website disruptions, incidents of data corruption,
service outages and other performance problems. These problems may be caused by a variety of factors, including
infrastructure changes, changes to our core services architecture, changes to our infrastructure necessitated by legal
and compliance requirements governing the storage and transmission of data, human or software errors, viruses,
security attacks, fraud, spikes in customer usage, primary and redundant hardware or connectivity failures, dependent
data center and other service provider failures and denial of service issues. In some instances, we may not be able to
identify the cause or causes of these performance problems within an acceptable period of time, which may harm our
reputation and operating results. Furthermore, if we encounter any of these problems in the future, our customers may
lose access to important data or experience data corruption or service outages that may subject us to financial
penalties, other liabilities and customer losses. If our operations infrastructure fails to keep pace with increased sales,
customers may experience delays as we seek to obtain additional capacity, which could adversely affect our reputation
and our business.

Interruptions or delays in service from our third-party data center hosting facilities and cloud computing and hosting
providers could impair the delivery of our services and harm our business.

We currently store and process our customers’ information within three third-party data center hosting facilities located
in Northern California and in third-party cloud computing and hosting facilities inside and outside of the United
States. As part of our current disaster recovery arrangements, our production environment and metadata related to our
customers’ data is currently replicated in near real time in a facility located in Las Vegas, Nevada. In addition, all of
our customers’ data is typically replicated on a third-party storage platform located inside and outside of the United
States. These facilities may be located in areas prone to natural disasters and may experience events such as
earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunications failures and similar events. They may also be subject to
break-ins, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism, cyber-attacks and similar misconduct. Any damage to, or failure of,
our systems generally, or those of the third-party cloud computing and hosting providers, could result in interruptions
in our service. Interruptions in our service may reduce our revenue, cause us to issue credits or pay penalties, cause
customers to terminate their subscriptions and adversely affect our renewal rate and our ability to attract new
customers. In addition, we may not have adequate insurance coverage to compensate for losses from a major
interruption. Our business will also be harmed if our customers and potential customers believe our service is
unreliable. Despite precautions taken at these facilities, the occurrence of a natural disaster, an act of terrorism, an
armed conflict, a decision to close the facilities without adequate notice or other unanticipated problems at these
facilities could result in lengthy interruptions in our service or cause us to not comply with certification requirements.
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Even with the disaster recovery arrangements, we have never performed a full live failover of our services and, in an
actual disaster, we could learn our recovery arrangements are not sufficient to address all possible scenarios and our
service could be interrupted for a longer period than expected. For example, in February 2018, we experienced a

service outage when one of our data centers lost power and the back-up power generators failed to function properly.
As we continue to add data centers, increase our dependence
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on third-party cloud computing and hosting providers, and add capacity in our existing data centers, we may move or
transfer our data and our customers’ data. In particular, as part of our hybrid cloud infrastructure strategy, we intend to
migrate our primary data centers in fiscal year 2020 to significantly lower cost regions in order to continue to optimize
infrastructure efficiency and to support the growth in our paying customers. Despite precautions taken during any of
these data center moves and data transfers, any unsuccessful data transfers may impair the delivery of our service and
could materially and adversely disrupt our operations and our service delivery to our customers, which could result in
contractual penalties or damage claims from customers. In addition, changes to our data center infrastructure could
occur over a period longer than planned, could require greater than expected investment and other internal and
external resources and could cause us to incur increased costs as we operate multiple data center facilities. It may also
take longer to realize the intended favorable benefits from any data center infrastructure migrations and improvements
than expected, and disruptions or unexpected costs may continue to occur while we enhance our data center
infrastructure.

If we overestimate or underestimate our data center capacity requirements, our operating results could be adversely
affected.

Only a small percentage of our customers that are organizations currently use our service as a way to organize all of
their internal files. In particular, larger organizations and enterprises typically use our service to connect people and
their most important information so that they are able to get work done more efficiently. However, over time, we may
experience an increase in customers that look to Box as their complete cloud content management solution. The costs
associated with leasing and maintaining our data centers already constitute a significant portion of our capital and
operating expenses. We continuously evaluate our short- and long-term data center capacity requirements to ensure
adequate capacity for new and existing customers while minimizing unnecessary excess capacity costs. If we
overestimate the demand for our cloud content management service and therefore secure excess data center capacity,
or if we are unable to meet our contractual minimum commitments, our operating margins could be reduced. If we
underestimate our data center capacity requirements, we may not be able to service the expanding needs of new and
existing customers and may be required to limit new customer acquisition, which would impair our revenue growth.
Furthermore, regardless of our ability to appropriately manage our data center capacity requirements, an increase in
the number of organizations, in particular large businesses and enterprises, that use our service as a larger component
of their content storage requirements, could result in lower gross and operating margins or otherwise have an adverse
impact on our financial condition and operating results.

We depend on highly skilled personnel to grow and operate our business, and if we are unable to hire, retain and
motivate our personnel, we may not be able to grow effectively.

Our future success depends upon our continued ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate and retain highly skilled
personnel, including senior management, engineers, designers, product managers, sales representatives, and customer
support representatives. Our ability to execute efficiently is dependent upon contributions from our employees,
including our senior management team and, in particular, Aaron Levie, our co-founder, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer. In addition, occasionally, there may be changes in our senior management team that may be disruptive to our
business. If our senior management team, including any new hires that we may make, fails to work together
effectively and to execute on our plans and strategies on a timely basis, our business could be harmed.

Our growth strategy also depends on our ability to expand our organization with highly skilled personnel. Identifying,
recruiting, training and integrating qualified individuals will require significant time, expense and attention. In
addition to hiring new employees, we must continue to focus on retaining our best employees. Competition for highly
skilled personnel is intense, particularly in the San Francisco Bay Area, where our headquarters is located. We may
need to invest significant amounts of cash and equity to attract and retain new employees, and we may never realize
returns on these investments. Changes to U.S. immigration and work authorization laws and regulations, including
those that restrain the flow of technical and professional talent, can be significantly affected by political forces and
levels of economic activity. Our international expansion and our business in general may be materially adversely

33



Edgar Filing: BOX INC - Form 10-K

affected if legislative or administrative changes to immigration or visa laws and regulations impair our hiring
processes and goals or projects involving personnel who are not citizens of the country where the work is to be

performed.
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If we are not able to effectively add and retain employees, our ability to achieve our strategic objectives will be
adversely impacted, and our business will be harmed.

We may be sued by third parties for alleged infringement of their proprietary rights.

There is considerable patent and other intellectual property development activity in our industry. Our success depends
on our not infringing upon the valid intellectual property rights of others. Our competitors, as well as a number of
other entities, including non-practicing entities, and individuals, may own or claim to own intellectual property
relating to our industry.

From time to time, certain other third parties have claimed that we are infringing upon their intellectual property
rights, and we may be found to be infringing upon such rights. In addition, we cannot assure you that actions by other
third parties alleging infringement by us of third-party patents will not be asserted or prosecuted against us. In the
future, others may claim that our services and underlying technology infringe or violate their intellectual property
rights. However, we may be unaware of the intellectual property rights that others may claim cover some or all of our
technology or services. Any claims or litigation could cause us to incur significant expenses and, if successfully
asserted against us, could require that we pay substantial damages or ongoing royalty payments, prevent us from
offering our services, or require that we comply with other unfavorable terms. We may also be obligated to indemnify
our customers or business partners or pay substantial settlement costs, including royalty payments, in connection with
any such claim or litigation and to obtain licenses, modify services, or refund fees, which could be costly. Even if we
were to prevail in such a dispute, any litigation regarding our intellectual property could be costly and time consuming
and divert the attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations. During the course of any
litigation, we may make announcements regarding the results of hearings and motions, and other interim
developments. If securities analysts or investors regard these announcements as negative, the market price of our
Class A common stock may decline.

Any failure to protect our intellectual property rights could impair our ability to protect our proprietary technology and
our brand.

Our success and ability to compete depend in part on our intellectual property. We primarily rely on copyright, trade
secret and trademark laws, trade secret protection and confidentiality or license agreements with our employees,
customers, partners and others to protect our intellectual property rights. However, the steps we take to protect our
intellectual property rights may be inadequate. We may not be able to obtain any further patents, and our pending
applications may not result in the issuance of patents. We may also have to expend significant resources to obtain
additional patents as we expand our international operations.

In order to protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and
protect these rights. Litigation brought to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly,
time-consuming and distracting to management and may result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual
property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims
and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Accordingly, we may not
be able to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property. Our failure to
secure, protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could materially adversely affect our brand and adversely
impact our business.

Our services contain open source software, and we license some of our software through open source projects, which
may pose particular risks to our proprietary software, products, and services in a manner that could have a negative
impact on our business.

We use open source software in our services and will use open source software in the future. In addition, we regularly
contribute software source code to open source projects under open source licenses or release internal software
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projects under open source licenses, and anticipate doing so in the future. The terms of many open source licenses to
which we are subject have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts, and there is a risk that open source software
licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to provide
or distribute our services. Additionally, we may from time to time face claims from third parties claiming ownership
of, or demanding release of, the open source software or derivative works that we developed
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using such software, which could include our proprietary source code, or otherwise seeking to enforce the terms of the
applicable open source license. These claims could result in litigation and could require us to make our software
source code freely available, purchase a costly license or cease offering the implicated services unless and until we
can re-engineer them to avoid infringement. This re-engineering process could require significant additional research
and development resources, and we may not be able to complete it successfully. In addition to risks related to license
requirements, use of certain open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial
software, as open source code may contain bugs or other defects and open source licensors generally do not provide
warranties or controls on the functionality or origin of software. Additionally, because any software source code we
contribute to open source projects is publicly available, our ability to protect our intellectual property rights with
respect to such software source code may be limited or lost entirely, and we are unable to prevent our competitors or
others from using such contributed software source code. Any of these risks could be difficult to eliminate or manage,
and, if not addressed, could have a negative effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

We rely on third parties for certain financial and operational services essential to our ability to manage our business. A
failure or disruption in these services could materially and adversely affect our ability to manage our business
effectively.

We rely on third parties for certain essential financial and operational services. Traditionally, the vast majority of
these services have been provided by large enterprise software vendors who license their software to customers.
However, we receive many of these services on a subscription basis from various software-as-a-service companies
that are smaller and have shorter operating histories than traditional software vendors. Moreover, these vendors
provide their services to us via a cloud-based model instead of software that is installed on our premises. We depend
upon these vendors to provide us with services that are always available and are free of errors or defects that could
cause disruptions in our business processes, and any failure by these vendors to do so, or any disruptions in networks
or the availability of the internet, would adversely affect our ability to operate and manage our operations.

We are subject to governmental export controls that could impair our ability to compete in international markets due
to licensing requirements and economic sanctions programs that subject us to liability if we are not in full compliance
with applicable laws.

Certain of our services are subject to export controls, including the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Export
Administration Regulations and various economic and trade sanction regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury
Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Controls. The provision of our products and services must comply with these
laws. The U.S. export control laws and U.S. economic sanctions laws include prohibitions on the sale or supply of
certain products and services to U.S. embargoed or sanctioned countries, governments, persons and entities and also
require authorization for the export of encryption items. In addition, various countries regulate the import of certain
encryption technology, including through import permitting and licensing requirements, and have enacted laws that
could limit our ability to distribute our services or could limit our customers’ ability to implement our services in those
countries.

Although we take precautions to prevent our services from being provided in violation of such laws, our solutions may
have been in the past, and could in the future be, provided inadvertently in violation of such laws, despite the
precautions we take. If we fail to comply with these laws, we and our employees could be subject to civil or criminal
penalties, including the possible loss of export privileges, monetary penalties, and, in extreme cases, imprisonment of
responsible employees for knowing and willful violations of these laws. We may also be adversely affected through
penalties, reputational harm, loss of access to certain markets, or otherwise.

Changes in tariffs, sanctions, international treaties, export/import laws and other trade restrictions or trade disputes
may delay the introduction and sale of our services in international markets, prevent our customers with international
operations from deploying our services or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our services to certain
countries, governments, persons or entities altogether. Any change in export or import regulations, economic
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sanctions or related laws, shift in the enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or change in the countries,
governments, persons or technologies targeted by such regulations, could result in decreased use of our services, or in
our decreased ability to export or sell our services to existing or potential customers with international
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operations. Any decrease in the use of our services or limitation on our ability to export or sell our services would
likely adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

We focus on product innovation and user engagement rather than short-term operating results.

We focus heavily on developing and launching new and innovative products and features, as well as on improving the
user experience for our services. We also focus on growing the number of users and paying organizations through
inside sales, outbound sales, field sales, channel sales and through word-of-mouth by individual users, some of whom
use our services at no cost. We prioritize innovation and the experience for users on our platform, as well as the
growth of our user base, over short-term operating results. We frequently make product and service decisions that may
reduce our short-term operating results if we believe that the decisions are consistent with our goals to improve the
user experience and to develop innovative features that we feel our users desire. These decisions may not be consistent
with the short-term expectations of investors and may not produce the long-term benefits that we expect.

We provide service level commitments under our subscription agreements. If we fail to meet these contractual
commitments, we could be obligated to provide credits or refunds for prepaid amounts related to unused subscription
services or face subscription terminations, which could adversely affect our revenue. Furthermore, any failure in our
delivery of high-quality customer support services may adversely affect our relationships with our customers and our
financial results.

Our subscription agreements with customers provide certain service level commitments. If we are unable to meet the
stated service level commitments or suffer periods of downtime that exceed the periods allowed under our customer
agreements, we may be obligated to provide these customers with service credits which could significantly impact our
revenue in the period in which the downtime occurs and the credits could be due. For example, in February 2018, we
experienced a service outage when one of our data centers lost power and the back-up power generators failed to
function properly. As a result of this service outage, we issued credits to certain customers. We could also face
subscription terminations, which could significantly impact both our current and future revenue. Any extended service
outages could also adversely affect our reputation, which would also impact our future revenue and operating results.

Our customers depend on our customer success organization to resolve technical issues relating to our services. We
may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in customer demand for support
services. Increased customer demand for these services, without corresponding revenue, could increase costs and
adversely affect our operating results. In addition, our sales process is highly dependent on the ease of use of our
services, on our reputation and on positive recommendations from our existing customers. Any failure to maintain
high-quality customer support, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality support, could adversely
affect our reputation and our ability to sell our services to existing and prospective customers.

Our services are becoming increasingly mission-critical for our customers and if these services fail to perform
properly or if we are unable to scale our services to meet the needs of our customers, our reputation could be adversely
affected, our market share could decline and we could be subject to liability claims.

Our core services and our expanded offerings such as Box KeySafe, Box Governance, Box Zones and Box Platform
are becoming increasingly mission-critical to our customers’ internal and external business operations, as well as their
ability to comply with legal requirements, regulations, and standards such as GxP, FINRA, HIPAA, and FedRAMP.
These services and offerings are inherently complex and may contain material defects or errors. Any defects either in
functionality or that cause interruptions in the availability of our services, as well as user error, could result in:

{oss or delayed market acceptance and sales;

breach of contract or warranty claims;

tssuance of sales credits or refunds for prepaid amounts related to unused subscription services;
doss of customers;
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diversion of development and customer service resources; and
harm to our reputation.
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The costs incurred in correcting any material defects or errors might be substantial and could adversely affect our
operating results. Further, our errors and omissions insurance may be inadequate or may not be available in the future
on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, our insurance may not cover all claims made against us and defending a
lawsuit, regardless of its merit, could be costly and divert management’s attention.

Because of the large amount of data that we collect and manage, it is possible that hardware failures, software errors,
errors in our systems, or by third party service provides, user errors, or internet outages could result in data loss or
corruption that our customers regard as significant. Furthermore, the availability or performance of our services could
be adversely affected by a number of factors, including customers’ inability to access the internet, the failure of our
network or software systems, security breaches or variability in customer traffic for our services. We have been
required and, in the future, may be required to issue credits or refunds for prepaid amounts related to unused services
or otherwise be liable to our customers for damages they may incur resulting from some of these events. In addition to
potential liability, if we experience interruptions in the availability of our services, our reputation could be adversely
affected, which could result in the loss of customers. For example, our customers access our services through their
internet service providers. If a service provider fails to provide sufficient capacity to support our services or otherwise
experiences service outages, such failure could interrupt our customers’ access to our services, adversely affect their
perception of our services’ reliability and consequently reduce our revenue.

Furthermore, we will need to ensure that our services can scale to meet the needs of our customers, particularly as we
continue to focus on larger enterprise customers. If we are not able to provide our services at the scale required by our
customers, potential customers may not adopt our solution and existing customers may not renew their agreements
with us.

If the prices we charge for our services are unacceptable to our customers, our operating results will be harmed.

As the market for our services matures, or as new or existing competitors introduce new products or services that
compete with ours, we may experience pricing pressure and be unable to renew our agreements with existing
customers or attract new customers at prices that are consistent with our pricing model and operating budget. If this
were to occur, it is possible that we would have to change our pricing model or reduce our prices, which could harm
our revenue, gross margin and operating results.

Sales to customers outside the United States or with international operations expose us to risks inherent in
international sales.

A key element of our growth strategy is to expand our international operations and develop a worldwide customer
base. To date, we have not realized a substantial portion of our revenue from customers outside of the United States.
Operating in international markets requires significant resources and management attention and will subject us to
regulatory, economic, geographic, social, and political risks that are different from those in the United States. Because
of our limited experience with international operations and significant differences between international and U.S.
markets, our international expansion efforts may not be successful in creating demand for our services outside of the
United States or in effectively selling subscriptions to our services in all of the international markets we enter. In
addition, we will face specific risks in doing business internationally that could adversely affect our business,
including:

the need to localize and adapt our services for specific countries, including translation into foreign languages and
associated expenses;
* laws (and changes to such laws) relating to privacy, data protection and data transfer that, among other
things, could require that customer data be stored and processed in a designated territory;
difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;
different pricing environments, longer sales cycles and longer accounts receivable payment cycles and collections
issues;
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new and different sources of competition;
weaker protection for intellectual property and other legal rights than in the United States and practical difficulties in
enforcing intellectual property and other rights outside of the United States;
{aws and business practices favoring local competitors;
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changes in the geopolitical environment, the perception of doing business with U.S. based companies, and changes in

regulatory requirements that impact our operating strategies, access to global markets or hiring;

compliance challenges related to the complexity of multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and

regulations, including employment, tax, privacy and data protection laws and regulations;

tncreased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;

restrictions on the transfer of funds;

reliance on third party resellers and other parties;

adverse tax consequences; and

anstable regional, economic, social and political conditions.
We sell our services and incur operating expenses in various currencies. Therefore, fluctuations in the value of the
U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may impact our operating results when translated into U.S. dollars. We currently
manage our exchange rate risk by matching foreign currency assets with payables and by maintaining minimal
non-U.S. dollar cash reserves, but we do not have any other hedging programs in place to limit the risk of exchange
rate fluctuation. In the future, however, to the extent our foreign currency exposures become more material, we may
elect to deploy normal and customary hedging practices designed to more proactively mitigate such exposure. We
cannot be certain such practice will ultimately be available and/or effective at mitigating all foreign currency risk to
which we are exposed. If we are unsuccessful in detecting material exposures in a timely manner, our deployed
hedging strategies are not effective, or there are no hedging strategies available for certain exposures that are prudent
given the risks associated and the potential mitigation of the underlying exposure achieved, our operating results or
financial position could be adversely affected in the future.

We are also monitoring developments related to Brexit, which could have significant implications for our business.
Brexit could lead to economic and legal uncertainty, including significant volatility in global stock markets and
currency exchange rates, and differing laws and regulations as the United Kingdom determines which European Union
laws to replace or replicate. Any of these effects of Brexit, among others, could adversely affect our operations,
especially in the United Kingdom, and our financial results.

Failure to adequately expand our direct sales force and successfully maintain our online sales experience will impede
our growth.

We will need to continue to expand and optimize our sales infrastructure in order to grow our customer base and our
business. We plan to continue to expand our direct sales force, both domestically and internationally. Identifying and
recruiting qualified personnel and training them requires significant time, expense and attention. Our business may be
adversely affected if our efforts to expand and train our direct sales force do not generate a corresponding increase in
revenue. If we are unable to hire, develop and retain talented sales personnel or if new direct sales personnel are
unable to achieve desired productivity levels in a reasonable period of time, we may not be able to realize the intended
benefits of this investment or increase our revenue.

We maintain our Box website to efficiently service our high volume, low dollar customer transactions and certain
customer inquiries. Our goal is to continue to evolve this online experience so it effectively serves the increasing and
changing needs of our growing customer base. If we are unable to maintain the effectiveness of our online solution to
meet the future needs of our online customers and to eliminate fraudulent transactions occurring in this channel, we
could see reduced online sales volumes as well as a decrease in our sales efficiency, which could adversely affect our
results of operations.

If we are unable to maintain and promote our brand, our business and operating results may be harmed.
We believe that maintaining and promoting our brand is critical to expanding our customer base. Maintaining and
promoting our brand will depend largely on our ability to continue to provide useful, reliable and innovative services,

which we may not do successfully. We may introduce new features, products, services or terms of service that our
customers do not like, which may negatively affect our brand and reputation. Additionally, the actions of
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third parties may affect our brand and reputation if customers do not have a positive experience using third-party apps
or other services that are integrated with Box. Maintaining and enhancing our brand may require us to make
substantial investments, and these investments may not achieve the desired goals. If we fail to successfully promote
and maintain our brand or if we incur excessive expenses in this effort, our business and operating results could be
adversely affected.

Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties.

In order to grow our business, we anticipate that we will continue to depend on our relationships with third parties,
such as alliance partners, resellers, distributors, system integrators and developers. For example, we have entered into
agreements with partners such as AT&T, IBM, Microsoft and Google to market, resell, integrate with or endorse our
services. Identifying partners and resellers, and negotiating and documenting relationships with them, requires
significant time and resources. Also, we depend on our ecosystem of system integrators, partners and developers to
create applications that will integrate with our platform or permit us to integrate with their product offerings. Our
competitors may be effective in providing incentives to third parties to favor their products or services, or to prevent
or reduce subscriptions to our services. In some cases, we also compete directly with our partners’ product offerings,
and if these partners stop reselling or endorsing our services or impede our ability to integrate our services with their
products, our business and operating results could be adversely affected. In addition, acquisitions of our partners by
our competitors could result in a decrease in the number of current and potential customers, as our partners may no
longer facilitate the adoption of our services by potential customers.

If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with third parties, or realize the anticipated
benefits from such partnerships, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenue could be impaired
and our operating results may suffer. Even if we are successful, we cannot assure you that these relationships will
result in increased customer usage of our services or increased revenue.

Furthermore, if our partners and resellers fail to perform as expected, our reputation may be harmed and our business
and operating results could be adversely affected.

We depend on our ecosystem of system integrators, partners and developers to create applications that will integrate
with our platform or to allow us to integrate with their products.

We depend on our ecosystem of system integrators, partners and developers to create applications that will integrate
with our platform and to allow us to integrate with their products. This presents certain risks to our business,
including:

we cannot provide any assurance that these third-party applications and products meet the same quality standards that
we apply to our own development efforts, and to the extent that they contain bugs or defects, they may create
disruptions in our customers’ use of our services or negatively affect our brand;
we do not currently provide support for software applications developed by our partner ecosystem, and users may be
left without support and potentially cease using our services if these system integrators and developers do not provide
adequate support for their applications;
we cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate our services with our partners’ products
or that our partners will continue to provide us the right to do so; and
these system integrators, partners and developers may not possess the appropriate intellectual property rights to
develop and share their applications.
Many of these risks are not within our control to prevent, and our brand may be damaged if these applications do not
perform to our users’ satisfaction and that dissatisfaction is attributed to us.
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Our company culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain this culture as we grow, we could lose
the innovation, creativity and teamwork fostered by our culture, and our business may be harmed.

We believe that our culture has been and will continue to be a key contributor to our success. We expect to continue to
hire additional employees as we expand our business. If we do not continue to develop our company culture or
maintain our core values as we grow and evolve both in the United States and abroad, we may be unable to foster the
innovation, creativity and teamwork we believe we need to support our growth.

Future acquisitions and investments could disrupt our business and harm our financial condition and operating results.

Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to expand our services and grow our business in response to changing
technologies, customer demands, and competitive pressures. In some circumstances, we may choose to do so through
the acquisition of complementary businesses, teams of employees, and technologies rather than through internal
development. For example, the team from Progressly, a workflow automations company, joined us in May 2018, and
employees from Butter.ai, a cloud-based intelligent search company, joined us in July 2018. The identification of
suitable acquisition candidates can be difficult, time-consuming and costly, and we may not be able to successfully
complete or integrate identified acquisitions. The risks we face in connection with acquisitions include:

diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to addressing acquisition integration
challenges;
coordination of research and development and sales and marketing functions;
retention of key employees from the acquired company;
cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our organization;
tntegration of the acquired company’s accounting, management information, human resources and other
administrative systems, as well as the acquired operations, technology and rights into our offerings, and any
unanticipated expenses related to such integration;
the need to implement or improve controls, procedures, and policies at a business that prior to the acquisition may
have lacked effective controls, procedures and policies;
tiability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including intellectual property infringement
claims, violations of laws, commercial disputes, tax liabilities and other known and unknown liabilities;
completing the transaction and achieving the anticipated benefits of the acquisition within the expected timeframe or
at all;
unanticipated write-offs, expenses, charges or risks associated with the transaction; and
titigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company, including claims from terminated employees,
customers, former stockholders or other third parties, which may differ from or be more significant than the risks our
business faces.
Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with our past or future acquisitions and
investments could cause us to fail to realize the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions or investments, cause us to
incur unanticipated liabilities, and harm our business generally. Future acquisitions could also result in dilutive
issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, amortization expenses, incremental
operating expenses or the write-off of goodwill, any of which could harm our financial condition or operating results.
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We may require additional capital to support our operations or the growth of our business, and we cannot be certain
that this capital will be available on reasonable terms when required, or at all.

On occasion, we may need additional financing to operate or grow our business. Our ability to obtain additional
financing, if and when required, will depend on investor and lender demand, our operating performance, the condition
of the capital markets and other factors. We cannot guarantee that additional financing will be available to us on
favorable terms when required, or at all. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity, equity-linked or
debt securities, those securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to the rights of our Class A common
stock, and our existing stockholders may experience dilution. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or
financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to support the operation or growth of
our business could be significantly impaired and our operating results may be harmed.

Financing agreements we are party to or may become party to may contain operating and financial covenants that
restrict our business and financing activities.

Our existing credit agreement contains certain operating and financial restrictions and covenants that may restrict our
and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, incur indebtedness, grant liens on our assets, make loans
investments, consummate certain merger and consolidation transactions, dispose of assets and enter into affiliate
transactions, subject in each case to customary exceptions. We are also required to comply with a minimum liquidity
covenant and a maximum leverage ratio. These restrictions and covenants, as well as those contained in any future
financing agreements that we may enter into, may restrict our ability to finance our operations, engage in, expand or
otherwise pursue our business activities and strategies. Our ability to comply with these covenants may be affected by
events beyond our control, and breaches of these covenants could result in a default under the credit agreement and
any future financial agreements that we may enter into and under other arrangements containing cross-default
provisions. If not waived, defaults could cause our outstanding indebtedness under our credit agreement and any
future financing agreements that we may enter into to become immediately due and payable, and permit our lenders to
terminate their lending commitments and to foreclose upon any collateral securing such indebtedness.

Adverse economic conditions may negatively impact our business.

Our business depends on the overall demand for cloud content management services and on the economic health of
our current and prospective customers. The United States and other key international economies have experienced
cyclical downturns from time to time that have resulted in a significant weakening of the economy, more limited
availability of credit, a reduction in business confidence and activity, and other difficulties that may affect one or more
of the industries to which we sell our services. Uncertainty about economic conditions in the United States, Europe,
Japan and other key markets for our services could cause customers to delay or reduce their information technology
spending. This could result in reductions in sales of our services, longer sales cycles, reductions in subscription
duration and value, slower adoption of new technologies and increased price competition. Any of these events would
likely have an adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial position. In addition, there can be no
assurance that cloud content management and collaboration spending levels will increase following any recovery.

Changes in laws and regulations related to the internet or changes in the internet infrastructure itself, or disruption in
access to the internet or critical services on which the internet depends, may diminish the demand for our services, and
could have a negative impact on our business.

The future success of our business depends upon the continued use and availability of the internet as a primary
medium for commerce, communication and business services. Federal, state or foreign government bodies or agencies
have in the past adopted, and may in the future adopt, laws or regulations affecting the use of the internet as a
commercial medium. The adoption of any laws or regulations that could adversely affect the growth, popularity or use
of the internet, including laws or practices limiting internet neutrality, could decrease the demand for, or the usage of,
our products and services, increase our cost of doing business, adversely affect our operating results, and require us to
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modify our services in order to comply with these changes. In addition, government agencies or private organizations
may begin to impose taxes, fees or other charges for accessing the internet or commerce conducted via the internet.
These laws or charges could limit the growth of internet-related commerce or communications generally, or result in
reductions in the demand for internet-based services such as ours.
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For example, in December 2017, the Federal Communications Commission voted to repeal the “net neutrality” rules and
return to a “light-touch” regulatory framework. However, the repeal has not yet taken effect and a number of parties
have already stated their intent to appeal this order; thus, the future impact of such repeal and any challenge thereto
remains uncertain. The rules were designed to ensure that all online content is treated the same by internet service
providers and other companies that provide broadband services. Should the repeal of net neutrality rules take effect,
access to or demand for our services could be hindered, we could incur greater operating expenses, and our business

and results of operations.

In addition, the use of the internet and, in particular, the cloud as a business tool could be adversely affected due to
delays in the development or adoption of new standards and protocols to handle increased demands of internet

activity, security, reliability, cost, ease of use, accessibility, and quality of service. The performance of the internet

and its acceptance as a business tool have been adversely affected by “viruses,” “worms”, “denial of service attacks” and
similar malicious activity. The internet has also experienced a variety of outages, disruptions and other delays as a

result of this malicious activity targeted at critical internet infrastructure. These service disruptions could diminish the
overall attractiveness to existing and potential customers of services that depend on the internet and could cause

demand for our services to suffer.

We employ third-party software for use in or with our services, and the inability to maintain licenses to this software,
or errors in the software, could result in increased costs, or reduced service levels, which would adversely affect our
business.

Our services incorporate certain third-party software obtained under open source licenses or licenses from other
companies. We anticipate that we will continue to rely on such third-party software and development tools in the
future. Although we believe that there are commercially reasonable alternatives to the third-party software we
currently license, this may not always be the case, or it may be difficult or costly to replace. In addition, integration of
the software used in our services with new third-party software may require significant work and require substantial
investment of our time and resources. Also, to the extent that our services depend upon the successful operation of
third-party software in conjunction with our software, any undetected errors or defects in this third-party software
could prevent the deployment or impair the functionality of our services, delay the introduction of new services
introductions, result in a failure of our services, and injure our reputation. For example, we discovered that a bug in a
third-party software library we use in our services caused a very small subset of certain files uploaded during a short
period of time (from mid-December 2017 to early January 2018) to be stored in a partially-corrupted state. Our use of
additional or alternative third-party software would require us to enter into additional license agreements with third
parties.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our
ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). We expect that compliance
with these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting and financial compliance costs, make
some activities more difficult, time consuming and costly, and place significant strain on our personnel, systems and
resources.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures,
and internal control over financial reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other
procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file with
the SEC is properly recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and
forms. We are also continuing to improve our internal control over financial reporting. We have expended, and
anticipate that we will continue to expend, significant resources in order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting.
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Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions
in our business, including increased complexity resulting from our international expansion. Further, weaknesses in our
disclosure controls or our internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Additionally, to the
extent that we acquire other businesses, the acquired company may not have a sufficiently robust system of internal
controls and we may uncover new deficiencies. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any
difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail
to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any
failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could also adversely affect the
results of management reports and independent registered public accounting firm audits of our internal control over
financial reporting that we are required to include in our periodic reports that we file with the SEC. Ineffective
disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the market
price of our Class A common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not
be able to remain listed on the NYSE.

Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could have a material
and adverse effect on our business and operating results, and cause a decline in the market price of our Class A
common stock.

Failure to comply with anti-bribery, anti-corruption, and anti-money laundering laws could subject us to penalties and
other adverse consequences.

We are subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act and other anti-corruption,
anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in various jurisdictions both domestic and abroad. In addition to our own
sales force, we also leverage third parties to sell our products and services and conduct our business abroad. We and
our third-party intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government
agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities and may be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these
third-party business partners and intermediaries, our employees, representatives, contractors, channel partners, and
agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. While we have policies and procedures to address
compliance with such laws, we cannot assure you that our employees and agents will not take actions in violation of
our policies or applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible. Any violation of the FCPA or other
applicable anti-bribery, anti-corruption laws, and anti-money laundering laws could result in whistleblower
complaints, adverse media coverage, investigations, loss of export privileges, severe criminal or civil sanctions, or
suspension or debarment from U.S. government contracts, all of which may have an adverse effect on our reputation,
business, operating results and prospects.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

As of January 31, 2019, we had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $692.3 million, state
net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $713.2 million, and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $268.0 million. Under Sections 382 and 383 of Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (Code), if
a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss
carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes, such as research tax credits, to offset its post-change income and
taxes may be limited. In general, an “ownership change” occurs if there is a cumulative change in our ownership by “5%
shareholders” that exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apply under state
tax laws. We have in the past experienced an ownership change which has impacted our ability to fully realize the
benefit of these net operating loss carryforwards. If we experience additional ownership changes as a result of future
transactions in our stock, then we may be further limited in our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and
other tax assets to reduce taxes owed on the net taxable income that we earn. Any such limitations on the ability to use
our net operating loss carryforwards and other tax assets could adversely impact our business, financial condition and
operating results.
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Tax laws or regulations could be enacted or changed and existing tax laws or regulations could be applied to us or to
our customers in a manner that could increase the costs of our services and adversely impact our business.

The application of federal, state, local and international tax laws to services provided electronically is unclear and
continuously evolving. Income, sales, use or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted
or amended at any time, such as the Tax Act in the United States, possibly with retroactive effect, and could be
applied solely or disproportionately to services provided over the internet. These enactments or amendments could
adversely affect our sales activity due to the inherent cost increase the taxes would represent and ultimately result in a
negative impact on our operating results and cash flows.

In addition, existing tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be interpreted or applied adversely to us,
possibly with retroactive effect, which could require us or our customers to pay additional tax amounts, as well as
require us or our customers to pay fines or penalties, as well as interest for past amounts. If we are unsuccessful in
collecting such taxes due from our customers, we could be held liable for such costs, thereby adversely impacting our
operating results and cash flows.

We may be subject to additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to income, sales, use, value added and other taxes in the United States and other countries in which we
conduct business, and such laws and rates vary by jurisdiction. Certain jurisdictions in which we do not collect sales,
use, value added or other taxes on our sales may assert that such taxes are applicable, which could result in tax
assessments, penalties and interest, and we may be required to collect such taxes in the future. Significant judgment is
required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes. These determinations are highly complex and
require detailed analysis of the available information and applicable statutes and regulatory materials. In the ordinary
course of our business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final determination of tax audits and any related litigation
could be materially different from our historical tax practices, provisions and accruals. If we receive an adverse ruling
as a result of an audit, or we unilaterally determine that we have misinterpreted provisions of the tax regulations to
which we are subject, there could be a material effect on our tax provision, net loss or cash flows in the period or
periods for which that determination is made. In addition, liabilities associated with taxes are often subject to an
extended or indefinite statute of limitations period. Therefore, we may be subject to additional tax liability (including
penalties and interest) for a particular year for extended periods of time.

Our reported financial results may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States are subject to interpretation by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB), the SEC and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate
accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could have a significant effect on our reported
financial results, and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement of a change. For
example, in February 2016, the FASB issued accounting standards update No. 2016-02, which requires lessees to
record most leases on their balance sheet while recognizing expense in a manner similar to current lease accounting
guidance. ASU 2016-02 states that a lessee would recognize a lease liability for the obligation to make lease payments
and a right-to-use asset for the right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. The new accounting guidance is
effective for us beginning February 1, 2019. In addition, were we to change our critical accounting estimates,
including the timing of recognition of subscription revenue and other revenue sources, our results of operations could
be significantly impacted. These or other changes in accounting principles could adversely affect our financial results.
See Note 2 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K regarding the effect of new accounting pronouncements on our financial statements. Any difficulties in
implementing these pronouncements could cause us to fail to meet our financial reporting obligations, which could
result in regulatory discipline and harm investors’ confidence in us.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated
bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could impair a takeover attempt.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law contain
provisions which could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying or preventing an acquisition deemed
undesirable by our board of directors. Among other things, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and
amended and restated bylaws include provisions:

ereating a classified board of directors whose members serve staggered three-year terms;
authorizing “blank check” preferred stock, which could be issued by our board of directors without stockholder
approval and may contain voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights superior to our Class A common stock;
{imiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our directors and officers;
{imiting the ability of our stockholders to call and bring business before special meetings;
requiring advance notice of stockholder proposals for business to be conducted at meetings of our stockholders and
for nominations of candidates for election to our board of directors; and
controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of board directors and stockholder meetings.
These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our
management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including Section 203 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, which prevents certain stockholders holding more than 15% of our outstanding capital
stock from engaging in certain business combinations without approval of the holders of at least two-thirds of our
outstanding common stock not held by such stockholder.

Any provision of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws or Delaware law
that has the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity for our
stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our capital stock, and could also affect the price that some
investors are willing to pay for our Class A common stock.

The market price of our Class A common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, and you could lose all or
part of your investment.

The market price of our Class A common stock has been and may continue to be subject to wide fluctuations in
response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating
performance. For example, from February 1, 2018 through January 31, 2019, the closing price of our Class A common
stock ranged from $15.76 per share to $29.01 per share. In addition to the factors discussed in this “Risk Factors”
section and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, factors that could cause fluctuations in the market price of
our Class A common stock include the following:

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;

wolatility in the market prices and trading volumes of technology stocks;

changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies generally or those in
our industry in particular;

sales of shares of our Class A common stock by us or our stockholders;

failure of securities analysts to maintain coverage and/or to provide accurate consensus results of us, changes in
financial estimates by securities analysts who follow us, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of
investors;

the financial projections we may provide to the public, any changes in those projections or our failure to meet those
projections;
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announcements by us or our competitors of new products or services;

the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;

rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;

actual or anticipated changes in our operating results or fluctuations in our operating results;

actual or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape

generally;

titigation involving us, our industry or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our

competitors;

developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

announced or completed acquisitions of businesses or technologies by us or our competitors;

new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles;

actions instituted by activist shareholders or others;

any significant change in our management; and

weneral economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets.
In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular
company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against these companies. This litigation,
if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business, our
market or our competitors, or if they adversely change their recommendations regarding our Class A common stock,
the market price of our Class A common stock and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock is influenced, to some extent, by the research and reports that
securities or industry analysts publish about us, our business, our market or our competitors. If any of the analysts who
cover us adversely change their recommendations regarding our Class A common stock or provide more favorable
recommendations about our competitors, the market price of our Class A common stock would likely decline. If any
of the analysts who may cover us were to cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we
could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause the market price of our Class A common stock
or trading volume to decline.

We do not expect to declare any dividends in the foreseeable future.
We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends to holders of our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future.
Consequently, investors may need to rely on sales of our Class A common stock after price appreciation, which may

never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment. Investors seeking cash dividends should
not purchase shares of our Class A common stock.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters, which includes research and development, sales, marketing, business operations and
executive offices, is located in Redwood City, California. It consists of approximately 340,000 square feet of space
under a lease that expires in fiscal 2029. We sublease a portion of this space.
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We also lease offices, with our principal offices in San Francisco, California; Austin, Texas; New York, New York;
London, England; and Tokyo, Japan. We intend to procure additional space as we add employees in our current
locations and expand geographically. We believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate
future, and that, should it be needed, suitable additional space will be available to accommodate expansion of our
operations.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are a party to litigation and subject to claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. We
investigate these claims as they arise, and accrue estimates for resolution of legal and other contingencies when losses
are probable and estimable. Although the results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe
there was not at least a reasonable possibility that we had incurred a material loss with respect to such loss
contingencies as of January 31, 2019.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information for Common Stock

Our Class A common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “BOX” on January 23,
2015. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for shares of our Class A common stock.

Holders of Record

As of February 28, 2019, there were 295 holders of record of our Class A common stock. Because many of our shares
of Class A common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to
estimate the total number of beneficial owners of our Class A common stock represented by these record holders.
Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds
and any future earnings for use in the operation of our business and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our
capital stock in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to declare dividends will be made at the discretion of
our board of directors, subject to applicable laws, and will depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital
requirements, general business conditions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.
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Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC for purposes of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that
Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Box, Inc. under the Securities Act

of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.

The following graph compares the cumulative total return to stockholders on our common stock relative to the
cumulative total returns of the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index, or S&P 500, and the NASDAQ Computer Index. An
investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our Class A common stock
and in each index on January 23, 2015, the date our Class A common stock began trading on the NYSE, and its
relative performance is tracked through January 31, 2019. The returns shown are based on historical results and are
not intended to suggest future performance.

Base

Period
Company/Index 01/23/2015 01/31/2015 01/31/2016 01/31/2017 01/31/2018 01/31/2019
Box, Inc. $ 100 $ 81 $ 46 $ 73 $ 96 $ 90
S&P 500 Index 100 97 97 111 138 132
NASDAQ Computer Index 100 96 101 124 176 172
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Item 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected historical consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of our consolidated
financial statements and the related notes included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The historical

results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in any future period. We adopted ASC Topic 606,

effective February 1, 2018, utilizing the modified retrospective method. The reported results for fiscal year 2019

reflect the application of ASC Topic 606, while the reported results for prior fiscal years are not adjusted and continue

to be reported under ASC Topic 605.

Year Ended January 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Data:
Revenue $608,386 $506,142 $398,605 $302,704 $216,440
Cost of revenue(1)(2) 173,594 135,248 112,130 87,100 47,273
Gross profit 434,792 370,894 286,475 215,604 169,167
Operating expenses:
Research and development(2) 163,750 136,791 115,928 102,500 66,402
Sales and marketing(1)(2) 312,210 303,319 253,020 242,184 207,749
General and administrative(1)(2) 93,069 84,805 68,182 71,923 61,672
Total operating expenses 569,029 524,915 437,130 416,607 335,823
Loss from operations (134,237) (154,021) (150,655) (201,003) (166,656)
Remeasurement of redeemable convertible

preferred stock warrant liability — — — — 126
Interest expense, net (316 ) (1,013 ) (896 ) (1,157 ) (2,009 )
Other income (loss), net 1,339 789 678 (98 ) (257 )
Loss before provision (benefit) for

income taxes (133,214) (154,245) (150,873) (202,258) (168,796)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 1,398 715 914 690 (569 )
Net loss (134,612) (154,960) (151,787) (202,948) (168,227)

Accretion of redeemable convertible

preferred stock — — — — (11,503 )
Deemed dividend on the conversion of

Series F redeemable convertible

preferred stock — — — — (2,262 )
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $(134,612) $(154,960) $(151,787) $(202,948) $(181,992)
Net loss per share attributable to common

stockholders, basic and diluted $095 ) $(1.16 ) $A.19 ) $A.67 ) $(11.48 )
Weighted-average shares used to compute 141,351 133,932 127,469 121,240 15,854
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net loss per share attributable to common

stockholders, basic and diluted(3)

(1)Includes intangible assets amortization as follows:
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Year Ended January 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in thousands)

Cost of revenue $— $365 $3,197 $5,443 $3,455
Sales and marketing 9 — — — —
General and administrative 15 154 155 154 169

Total intangible assets amortization $24 $519 $3,352 $5,597 $3,624
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(2)Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

(3) Upon the closing of Box’s initial public offering on January 28, 2015, 88.1 million shares of Box’s redeemable

38

Year Ended January 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in thousands)

Cost of revenue $14,065 $10,742 $7,882 $4,664 $1,492
Research and development 45,189 37,733 30,796 24,696 11,767
Sales and marketing 36,864 31,742 26,142 19,530 11,616
General and administrative 23,178 17,268 13,552 10,614 7,054

Total stock-based compensation $119,296 $97,485 $78,372 $59,504 $31,929

convertible preferred stock were converted and reclassified to Box’s common stock. In addition, 85,354 shares of

Box’s common stock were issued upon the net exercise of a warrant to purchase shares of Box’s redeemable
convertible preferred stock.

January 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $217,518 $208,076 $177,391 $185,741 $330,436
Working capital (34,646 ) 5,222 24,160 69,528 240,176
Total assets 650,161 553,566 493,674 497,488 492,666
Deferred revenue, current and non-current 375,041 320,923 241,984 186,413 120,057
Debt, current and non-current 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

Capital lease obligations, current and

noncurrent 72,914 45,824 35,445 12,014 1,863
Total stockholders’ equity 31,405 14,968 74,732 137,901 268,129
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together
with the section titled “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and the consolidated financial statements and related
notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements
based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those discussed in the
section titled “Risk Factors” and in other parts of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Box provides a leading cloud content management platform that enables organizations of all sizes to securely manage
their content while allowing easy, secure access and sharing of this content from anywhere, on any device. With our
Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) cloud content management platform, users can collaborate on content both internally
and with external parties, automate content-driven business processes, develop custom applications, and implement
data protection, security and compliance features to comply with legal and regulatory requirements, internal policies
and industry standards and regulations. Box provides a single content platform that accelerates business processes,
improves employee productivity and protects an organization’s most valuable data. Our platform enables a broad set of
business use cases across an enterprise, across multiple file formats and media types, and user experiences. Our
platform integrates with leading enterprise business applications, and is compatible with multiple application
environments, operating systems and devices, ensuring that workers have access to their critical business content
whenever and wherever they need it.

At our founding, we recognized that content is more accessible, secure and powerful when it is centrally stored,
managed, and shared. In 2005, we publicly launched our cloud content management platform, which we have
architected from the ground up, with a simple but powerful idea: to make it incredibly easy for people to securely
manage, share and collaborate on their most important content online. Our cloud content management platform is built
to meet the evolving demands of today’s distributed and mobile workforce, and for enterprises that are looking to
benefit from the increasing digitization of business. Our cloud content management platform integrates with other
cloud-based and enterprise applications and enables users to work and collaborate on content seamlessly and securely
at any time, from anywhere in the world, on any device.

In addition, we continue to innovate by expanding our core services and our expanded offerings with a focus on
workflow automation, intelligent content management, and advanced security. For example, we provide Box Relay,
which allows our end users to easily build, manage and track their own workflows; Box Skills, which enables
customers to leverage a variety of machine learning tools to accelerate their business processes and helping extract
meaning from customers unstructured content; Box Platform, which further enables customers and partners to build
enterprise apps using the Box Platform; Box KeySafe, a solution that builds on top of Box’s strong encryption and
security capabilities to give customers greater control over the encryption keys used to secure the file contents that are
stored with Box; Box Governance, which gives customers a better way to comply with regulatory policies, satisfy
e-discovery requests and effectively manage sensitive business information; and Box Zones, which gives global
customers the ability to store their data locally in certain regions. The increasing success of our add-on products
allows our customers to realize the full set of Box capabilities of our cloud content management platform.

We continue to expand our international presence. We moved to a new European headquarters in London’s Tech City
in 2017 and a new office in Tokyo in 2018, each of which provide room to grow while keeping us close to our

customers.

We offer our solution to our customers as a subscription-based service, with subscription fees based on the
requirements of our customers, including the number of users and functionality deployed. The majority of our
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customers subscribe to our service through one-year contracts, although we also offer our services for terms ranging
from one month to three years or more. We typically invoice our customers at the beginning of the term, in multiyear,
annual, quarterly or monthly installments. We recognize revenue when, or as we, satisfy a performance obligation.
Accordingly, due to our subscription model, we recognize revenue for our subscription and premier services ratably
over the term of the contract.
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Our objective is to build an enduring business that creates sustainable revenue and earnings growth over the long term.
To best achieve this objective, we focus on growing the number of users and paying organizations through direct field
sales, direct inside sales, indirect channel sales and through word-of-mouth by individual users, some of whom use
our services at no cost. Individual users and organizations can also simply sign up to use our solution on our website.
We believe this approach not only helps us build a critical mass of users but also has a viral effect within
organizations as more of their employees use our service and encourage their I'T professionals to deploy our services
to a broader user base.

We have achieved significant growth in a short period of time. Our user base includes 64.5 million registered users.
We define a registered user as a Box account that has been provisioned a unique user identification number. As of
January 31, 2019, 19% of our registered users were paying users who registered as part of a larger enterprise or
business account or by using a paid personal account. As of January 31, 2019, we had over 92,000 paying
organizations, and our solution was offered in 24 languages. We define paying organizations as separate and distinct
buying entities, such as a company, an educational or government institution, or a distinct business unit of a large
corporation, that have entered into a subscription agreement with us to utilize our services.

Organizations typically purchase our solution in the following ways: (i) employees in one or more small groups within
the organization may individually purchase our service; (ii) organizations may purchase IT-sponsored, enterprise-level
agreements with deployments for specific, targeted use cases ranging from tens to thousands of user seats; (iii)
organizations may purchase IT- sponsored, enterprise-level agreements where the number of user seats sold is
intended to accommodate and enable nearly all information workers within the organization in whatever use cases
they desire to adopt over the term of the subscription; and (iv) organizations may purchase our Box Platform service
to create custom business applications for their internal use and extended ecosystem of customers, suppliers and
partners.

We intend to continue scaling our organization to meet the increasingly complex needs of our customers. Our sales
and customer success teams are organized to efficiently serve organizations ranging from small businesses to the
world’s largest global organizations. We have invested, and expect to continue to invest, in our sales and marketing
teams to sell our services around the world, as well as in our development efforts to deliver additional features and
capabilities of our cloud services to address our customers’ evolving needs. We also expect to continue to make
investments in both our infrastructure to meet the needs of our growing global user base and our professional services
organization (Box Consulting) to address the strategic needs of our customers in more complex deployments and to
drive broader adoption across a wide array of use cases. As a result of our continuing investments to scale our
business in each of these areas, we do not expect to be profitable for the foreseeable future.

For the years ended January 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, our revenue was $608.4 million, $506.1 million, and $398.6
million, respectively, representing year-over-year growth of 20% and 27%, respectively, and our net losses were
$134.6 million, $155.0 million, and $151.8 million, respectively. For the years ended January 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017, revenue from non-U.S. customers represented 23%, 22%, and 18% of our revenue, respectively. Box is
headquartered in Redwood City, California and operates offices throughout the United States, Europe, and Asia.

Our Business Model

Our business model focuses on maximizing the lifetime value of a customer relationship. We make significant
investments in acquiring new customers and believe that we will be able to achieve a positive return on these
investments by retaining customers, cross-selling our add-on products and expanding the size of our deployments
within our customer base over time. In connection with the acquisition of new customers, we incur and recognize
significant upfront costs. These costs include sales and marketing costs associated with acquiring new customers, such
as sales commission expenses, a portion of which are deferred and then amortized over a period of benefit, and
marketing costs, which are expensed as incurred. We recognize revenue when, or as we, satisfy a performance
obligation. Accordingly, due to our subscription model, we recognize revenue for our subscription and premier
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services ratably over the term of the contract. Although our objective is for each customer to be profitable for us over
the duration of our relationship, the costs we incur with respect to any customer relationship, whether a new customer
or an expansion within an existing customer, may exceed revenue in earlier periods because we recognize those costs
faster than we recognize the associated revenue.
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Because of these dynamics, we experience a range of profitability with our customers depending in large part upon
their current stage. We generally incur higher sales and marketing expenses for new customers and existing customers
who are still in an expanding stage. For new customers, our associated sales and marketing expenses typically exceed
the first year revenue we recognize from those customers. For customers who are expanding their use of Box, we
incur various associated marketing expenses as well as sales commission expenses, though we typically recognize
higher revenue than sales and marketing expenses. For typical customers who are renewing their Box subscriptions,
our associated sales and marketing expenses are significantly less than the revenue we recognize from those
customers. These differences are primarily driven by the higher compensation we provide to our sales force for new
customers and customer subscription expansions compared to the compensation we provide to our sales force for
routine subscription renewals by customers. In addition, our sales and marketing expenses, even after considering
deferred incremental compensation we provide to our sales force, are generally higher for acquiring new customers
versus expansions or renewals of existing customer subscriptions. We believe that, over time, as our existing customer
base grows and a relatively higher percentage of our revenue is attributable to renewals versus new or expanding Box
deployments, we will experience lower associated sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue.

Key Business Metrics

We use the key metrics below for financial and operational decision-making and as a means to evaluate
period-to-period comparisons. We believe that these key metrics provide meaningful supplemental information
regarding our performance. We believe that both management and investors benefit from referring to these key
metrics in assessing our performance and when planning, forecasting, and analyzing future periods. These key metrics
also facilitate management's internal comparisons to our historical performance as well as comparisons to certain
competitors' operating results. We believe these key metrics are useful to investors both because (1) they allow for
greater transparency with respect to key metrics used by management in its financial and operational decision-making
and (2) they are used by institutional investors and the analyst community to help analyze the health of our business.

Year Ended January 31,

2019 2018 2017
Billings (in thousands) $672,897 $585,081  $454,176
Billings growth rate 15 % 29 % 23 %

Free cash flow (in thousands) $13,822 $7,517 *$(26,020) *
Retention rate (period end) 108 % 110 % 115 %

* Adjusted due to the adoption of ASU 2016-18
Billings

Billings represent our revenue plus the changes in deferred revenue and contract assets in the period. Billings we
record in any particular period primarily reflect subscription renewals and expansion within existing customers plus
sales to new customers, and represent amounts invoiced for all of our products and professional services. We typically
invoice our customers at the beginning of the term, in multiyear, annual, quarterly or monthly installments. If the
customer negotiates to pay the full subscription amount at the beginning of the period, the total subscription amount
for the entire term will be reflected in billings. If the customer negotiates to be invoiced annually or more frequently,
only the amount billed for such period will be included in billings.

Billings help investors better understand our sales activity for a particular period, which is not necessarily reflected in
our revenue given that we recognize subscription revenue ratably over the contract term. We consider billings a
significant performance measure and after adjusting for any shifts in relative payment frequencies, a leading indicator
of future revenue. We monitor billings to manage our business, make planning decisions, evaluate our performance
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and allocate resources. We believe that billings offer valuable supplemental information regarding the performance of
our business and will help investors better understand the sales volumes and performance of our business. Although
we consider billings to be a significant performance measure, we do not consider it to be a non-
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GAAP financial measure given that it is calculated using exclusively revenue, deferred revenue, and contract assets,
all of which are financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP.

Billings increased 15% in the year ended January 31, 2019 over the year ended January 31, 2018. The increase in
billings was primarily driven by the addition of new customers, expansion within existing customers as they
broadened their deployment of our product offerings, and strong attach rates of add-on products, partially offset by a
higher enhanced developer fee from one of our resellers in the prior period and the impact of customer driven
multi-year prepayments in the prior period.

Our use of billings has certain limitations as an analytical tool and should not be considered in isolation or as a
substitute for revenue or an analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Billings are recognized when invoiced,
while the related subscription and premier services revenue is recognized ratably over the contract term when, or as
we, satisfy a performance obligation. Also, other companies, including companies in our industry, may not use
billings, may calculate billings differently, may have different billing frequencies, or may use other financial measures
to evaluate their performance, all of which could reduce the usefulness of billings as a comparative measure.

Over time, we expect to continue to normalize payment durations. As a result, aside from the final invoicing
associated with the enhanced developer fee from one of our resellers billed in fiscal year 2019, we expect our billings
growth and revenue growth to correlate with one another. However, our billings growth and revenue growth can vary
from quarter to quarter due to factors including the timing and duration of customer subscription agreements. In
addition, as we have gained and expect to continue to gain more traction with large enterprise customers, we also
anticipate our quarterly billings to increasingly concentrate in the back half of our fiscal year, especially in the fourth
quarter.

A calculation of billings starting with revenue, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, is presented
below (in thousands):

Year Ended January 31,

2019 * 2018 *%2017 *k
GAAP revenue $608,386 $506,142 $398,605
Deferred revenue, end of period 375,041 320,923 241,984
Less: deferred revenue, beginning of period  (311,109)*** (241,984) (186,413)
Contract assets, beginning of period**** 582 — —
Less: contract assets, end of period™**** A3 ) — —
Billings $672,897 $585,081 $454,176

* As reported under ASC Topic 606

** As reported under ASC Topic 605

*#%*Balance as of February 1, 2018 upon the adoption of ASC Topic 606

*##%%Contract assets are reported as part of accounts receivable upon the adoption of ASC Topic 606.
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Free Cash Flow

We define free cash flow as cash flows from operating activities less purchases of property and equipment, principal
payments of capital lease obligations, capitalized internal-use software costs, and other items that did not or are not
expected to require cash settlement and that management considers to be outside of our core business. We specifically
identify adjusting items in our reconciliation of GAAP to non-GAAP financial measures. Prior to our adoption of
ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows: Restricted Cash, historically, we excluded the use and release of restricted
cash to guarantee a significant letter of credit for our Redwood City  headquarters from our free cash flow. We
consider free cash flow to be a profitability and liquidity measure that provides useful information to management and
investors about the amount of cash generated by the business that can possibly be used for investing in our business
and strengthening the balance sheet; but it is not intended to represent the residual cash flow available for
discretionary expenditures. A reconciliation of free cash flow to cash provided by (used in) operating activities, its
nearest GAAP equivalent, is presented in the non-GAAP Financial Measures section of this Annual Report on Form
10-K. The presentation of free cash flow is also not meant to be considered in isolation or as an alternative to cash
flows from operating activities as a measure of liquidity.

Free cash flow increased $6.3 million in the year ended January 31, 2019 as compared to the year ended January 31,
2018. The increase in free cash flow was primarily driven by an increase in cash provided by operating activities of
$19.9 million, partially offset by an increase in capital expenditures of $3.0 million, an increase in capital lease
obligation principal payments of $7.9 million, and an increase in capitalized internal-use software costs of $2.7
million associated with the development of additional significant features and functionality to our products. The
primary factors affecting the increase in cash flow from operations results from the improvement of our net loss of
$20.3 million, an increase in non-cash charges of $22.5 million, partially offset by changes in our operating assets and
liabilities of $22.9 million. The increase in capital expenditures was primarily related to our investments in Austin,
Tokyo, New York, London, and New York facilities and in our data center infrastructure. We acquired data center
assets primarily through capital leases. We expect capital lease obligations to increase in the foreseeable future as we
continue to invest in our data center operations. Improvements to our working capital management process have
contributed to significant improvements in free cash flow.

Retention Rate

Retention rate is defined as the net percentage of Total Account Value (TAV) retained from existing customers,
including expansion. We calculate our retention rate as of a period end by starting with the TAV from customers with
contract value of $5,000 or more as of 12 months prior to such period end (Prior Period TAV) and a subscription term
of at least 12 months. We then calculate TAV from these same customers as of the current period end (Current Period
TAYV). Finally, we divide the Current Period TAV by the Prior Period TAV to arrive at our retention rate. We believe
our retention rate is an important metric that provides insight into the long-term value of our subscription agreements
and our ability to retain and grow revenue from our customer base. We focus on contracts that have a value of $5,000
or more because, over time, these customers give us the best indicator for the growth of our business and the potential
for incremental business as they renew and expand their deployments, and contracts with these customers represented
a substantial majority of our revenue for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2019. Retention rate is an operational metric
and there is no comparable GAAP financial measure to which we can reconcile this particular key metric.

Our retention rate was 108%, 110% and 115% as of January 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The calculation of
our retention rate reflects both net user expansion and the loss of customers who do not renew their subscriptions with
us, which was below 5% of the Prior Period TAV. Our strong retention rates were primarily attributable to strong seat
growth in existing customers and strong attach rates of add-on products. We believe our go-to-market efforts to
deliver a solution selling strategy and our investments in product, Customer Success, and Box Consulting have been a
significant factor in our strong customer retention results. As we penetrate customer accounts, we expect our retention
rate to remain above 100% for the foreseeable future.
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Components of Results of Operations
Revenue

We derive our revenue primarily from three sources: (1) subscription revenue, which is comprised of subscription fees
from customers who have access to our cloud content management platform and other
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subscription-based services, which all include routine customer support; (2) revenue from customers purchasing our
premier services package; and (3) revenue from professional services such as implementing best practice use cases,
project management and implementation consulting services.

To date, practically all of our revenue has been derived from subscription and premier services. Subscription and
premier services revenue are driven primarily by the number of customers, the number of seats sold to each customer
and the price of our services.

We recognize revenue when, or as we, satisfy a performance obligation. Accordingly, due to our subscription model,
we recognize revenue for our subscription and premier services ratably over the contract term. We typically invoice
our customers at the beginning of the term, in multiyear, annual, quarterly or monthly installments. Our subscription
and premier services contracts are typically non-cancellable and do not contain refund-type provisions. The majority
of our customers subscribe to our service through one-year contracts, although we also offer our services for terms
ranging between one month to three years or more.

Professional services are generally billed on a fixed price basis, for which revenue is recognized over time based on
the proportion performed. Professional services revenue was not material as a percentage of total revenue for all
periods presented.

Revenue is presented net of sales and other taxes we collect on behalf of governmental authorities.
Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue consists primarily of costs related to providing our subscription services to our paying customers,
including employee compensation and related expenses for data center operations, customer support and professional
services personnel, payments to outside technology service providers, depreciation of servers and equipment, security
services and other tools, as well as amortization expense associated with acquired technology and capitalized
internal-use software. We allocate overhead such as rent, information technology costs and employee benefit costs to
all departments based on headcount. As such, general overhead expenses are reflected in cost of revenue and each of
the operating expense categories set forth below. We expect our cost of revenue to increase in dollars and may
increase as a percentage of revenue as we expect to offer new capabilities to our customers which requires upfront
investments and to expand our data center operations and customer support to support the growth of our business, our
customer base, as well as our international expansion.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative
expenses. Personnel costs are the most significant component of each category of operating expenses. Operating
expenses also include allocated overhead costs for facilities, information technology costs and employee benefit costs.

Research and Development. Research and development expense consists primarily of employee compensation and
related expenses, as well as allocated overhead. Our research and development efforts are focused on scaling our
platform, building an ecosystem of best of breed applications and platforms, and adding enterprise grade features,
functionality and enhancements such as workflow automation, intelligent content management capabilities, and
advanced security to enhance the ease of use of our cloud content management services. We capitalize certain
qualifying costs to develop software for internal use incurred during the application development stage. We expect our
research and development expense to increase in dollars but remain stable as a percentage of revenue over time, even
as we continue to make significant enhancements to our products and services.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of employee compensation and related expenses,
sales commissions, marketing programs, travel-related expenses, as well as allocated overhead. Marketing programs
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include but are not limited to advertising, events, corporate communications, brand building, and product marketing.
Sales and marketing expense also consists of data center and customer support costs related to providing our
cloud-based services to our free users. We market and sell our cloud content management services worldwide
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through our direct sales organization and through indirect distribution channels such as strategic resellers. We expect
our sales and marketing expense to continue to increase in dollars but decrease as a percentage of revenue over time as
we gain greater efficiency from our solution selling strategy while increasing the size of our sales and marketing
organization to capture strong demand globally and expand our international presence.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expense consists primarily of employee compensation and
related expenses for administrative functions including finance, legal, human resources, recruiting, information
systems, security, compliance, fees for external professional services and cloud based enterprise systems, as well as
allocated overhead. External professional services fees are primarily comprised of outside legal, accounting, audit and
outsourcing services. We expect our general and administrative expense to increase in dollars but to decrease as a
percentage of revenue over time as we benefit from even greater operational efficiency.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net consists of interest expense and interest income. Interest expense consists primarily of interest
charges for our line of credit, interest expense related to capital leases, unused commitment fees on our line of credit,
the amortization of capitalized debt issuance costs, and fees on our letters of credit. Interest income consists primarily
of interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, and restricted cash. We have historically
invested our cash in overnight deposits, certificates of deposit, and short term, investment-grade corporate debt,
marketable securities and asset backed securities.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net consists primarily of gains and losses from foreign currency transactions and other income and
expense.

Provision for Income Taxes
Provision for income taxes consists primarily of income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct
business and state income taxes in the United States and, as applicable, changes in our deferred taxes and related

valuation allowance positions and uncertain tax positions.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented in dollars and as a percentage of our

revenue. We adopted ASC Topic 606, effective February 1, 2018, utilizing the modified retrospective method. The

reported results for fiscal year 2019 reflect the application of ASC Topic 606, while the reported results for prior fiscal
years are not adjusted and continue to be reported under ASC Topic 605.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue

Cost of revenue(1)(2)

Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Research and development(2)

Sales and marketing(1)(2)

General and administrative(1)(2)

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Interest expense, net

Other income, net

Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Year Ended January 31,

2019

2018 2017

(in thousands)

$608,386
173,594
434,792

163,750
312,210
93,069

569,029

$506,142  $398,605
135,248 112,130
370,894 286,475

136,791 115,928
303,319 253,020
84,805 68,182

524915 437,130

(134,237) (154,021) (150,655)

(316
1,339

) (1,013 ) (896 )

789 678

(133,214) (154,245) (150,873)

1,398

715 914

$(134,612) $(154,960) $(151,787)

(1) Includes intangible assets amortization as follows:

Cost of revenue

Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Total intangible assets amortization

(2) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Cost of revenue

Research and development
Sales and marketing

General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation

Year Ended January 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)

$— $365 $3,197
9 _ _
15 154 155
$24 $519 $3,352
Year Ended January 31,

2019 2018 2017

(in thousands)

$14,065 $10,742 $7,882
45,189 37,733 30,796
36,864 31,742 26,142
23,178 17,268 13,552

$119,296 $97,485 $78,372
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Year Ended January 31,
2019 2018 2017
Percentage of Revenue:

Revenue 100 % 100 % 100 %
Cost of revenue(1)(2) 29 27 28
Gross profit 71 73 72

Operating expenses:
Research and development(2) 27 &
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